150

J. 1285 ORNL/TM-5928

# Utility Survey on Nuclear Power Plant Siting and Nuclear Energy Centers

David F. Cope Howard F. Bauman

MASTER

## OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY

OPERATED BY UNION CARBIDE CORPORATION FOR THE ENERGY RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT ADMINISTRATION

DISTRIBUTION OF THIS DOCUMENT IS UNLIMITED

### **DISCLAIMER**

This report was prepared as an account of work sponsored by an agency of the United States Government. Neither the United States Government nor any agency Thereof, nor any of their employees, makes any warranty, express or implied, or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed, or represents that its use would not infringe privately owned rights. Reference herein to any specific commercial product, process, or service by trade name, trademark, manufacturer, or otherwise does not necessarily constitute or imply its endorsement, recommendation, or favoring by the United States Government or any agency thereof. The views and opinions of authors expressed herein do not necessarily state or reflect those of the United States Government or any agency thereof.

## **DISCLAIMER**

Portions of this document may be illegible in electronic image products. Images are produced from the best available original document.

Printed in the United States of America. Available from National Technical Information Service U.S. Department of Commerce 5285 Port Royal Road, Springfield, Virginia 22161 Price: Printed Copy \$5.00; Microfiche \$3.00

This report was prepared as an account of work sponsored by the United States Government. Neither the United States nor the Energy Research and Development Administration/United States Nuclear Regulatory Commission, nor any of their employees, nor any of their contractors, subcontractors, or their employees, makes any warranty, express or implied, or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product or process disclosed, or represents that its use would not infringe privately owned rights.

Contract No. W-7405-eng-26

Engineering Technology Division

# UTILITY SURVEY ON NUCLEAR POWER PLANT SITING AND NUCLEAR ENERGY CENTERS

David F. Cope Howard F. Bauman

Manuscript Completed - June 28, 1977

Date Published - August 1977

NOTICE
This report was prepared as an account of work sponsored by the United States Government. Neither the United States nor the United States Energy Research and Development Administration, nor any of their contractors, or their employees, makes any subcontractors, or their employees, makes any warranty, express or implied, or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product or process disclosed, or represents that its use would not infringe privately owned rights.

Prepared by the
OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY
Oak Ridge, Tennessee 37830
operated by
UNION CARBIDE CORPORATION
for the
ENERGY RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT ADMINISTRATION

CISTRIBUTION OF THIS DOCUMENT IS UNLIMITED

# THIS PAGE WAS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

### CONTENTS

			Page
ABST	TRACT		v
EXEC	CUTIV	E SUMMARY	· vii
1.	INTR	ODUCTION	1
2.	SURV	EY PROCEDURE	1
3.	ANAL	YSIS OF RESPONSES	8
	3.1	Tabulations	8
	3.2	Analysis by ERC Regions	12
	J	3.2.1 Highlights, differences between regions	12
		3.2.2 Selected comments by regions	_
	3.3	Supplementary Information	33
		3.3.1 Massachusetts Office of Environmental	
		Affairs	33
		3.3.2 New England Electric System	33
		(WPPSS)	34
		3.3.4 The Pacific Power & Light Company (PP&L)	34
		3.3.5 Portland General Electric Company (PGE)	34
		3.3.6 State of New York	34
		3.3.7 State of Minnesota	. 35
		(ECAR)	35
		3.3.9 Federal Energy Administration	36
		3.3.10 Iowa Utilities	36
		3.3.11 Wisconsin Utilities	36
		3.3.12 U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC)	36
		3.3.13 Lovins vs Forbes	37
		3.3.14 Utility dispatch areas	
,	<b></b>	• •	•
		ONAL SUMMARY AND ANALYSIS	37
5.	CONCI	LUSIONS	42
	5.1	Interest in Developing Nuclear Energy Centers	
*		(Including Fuel Cycle Facilities)	42
	5.2	Siting of Nuclear Power Stations in General	43
	5.3	Limitations to Existing Sites	45
	5.4	Role of the States	46
	5.5	Role of the Federal Government — Ways in which the	
		Federal Government (i.e., ERDA) Can Help	46
REFE	ERENCI	ES	49
Appe	endix	A. MASSACHUSETTS OFFICE OF ENVIRONMENTAL AFFAIRS	
		LETTER TO PRESIDENT-ELECT CARTER	53
Appe	ndix	B. NEW ENGLAND ELECTRIC SYSTEM LETTER TO	
• •		PRESIDENT-ELECT CARTER	61
Appe	ndix	C. MINNESOTA POWER PLANT SITING ACT 1973	65

# THIS PAGE WAS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

### ABSTRACT

Most of the large U.S. utilities were surveyed by telephone and mail on questions concerning nuclear power plant siting and nuclear energy centers (NECs). The main purpose of the survey was for guidance of ERDA's NEC program.

The questions covered the following topics:

Availability of sites
Impact of environmental and other restraints
Plans for development of multi-unit sites
Interest in NEC development
Interest in including fuel-cycle facilities in NECs
Opinions on the roles desired for the state and
federal governments in power plant siting

The main conclusion of the survey was that, while many utilities were considering multiple-unit sites of  $\dot{2}$  to 5 units, none were planning larger energy centers at the present time. However, several expressed interest in NECs as a long-range future development.

# THIS PAGE WAS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

### EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Most of the large U.S. utilities were surveyed by telephone and mail on questions concerning nuclear power plant siting and nuclear energy centers (NECs). Responses were obtained from 68 utilities. The main purpose of the survey was for guidance of ERDA's NEC program. Since the NEC concept is in essence a siting option, the survey included broad aspects of nuclear power plant siting and the roles of various levels of government vis-à-vis the private utilities.

The questions covered the following topics:

Availability of sites
Impact of environmental and other restraints
Plans for development of multi-unit sites
Interest in NEC development
Interest in including fuel-cycle facilities in NECs
Opinions on the roles desired for the state and
federal governments in power plant siting

The main conclusions of the survey are summarized as follows:

### Nuclear energy centers

- 1. Many utilities have plans for multiple-unit stations up to 6 GW(e), and a few foresee the evolution of even larger stations up to 10 GW(e), but almost none are immediately interested in developing NECs of 10-20 GW(e). Their reasons for not going to large sites are:

  (a) many do not believe that the potential advantages associated with "power only" NECs are sufficient at this time to outweigh the problems posed with respect to systems operations, potential environmental effects and the increased risks of heavily concentrated power generating capacity; (b) the regulatory issues are considered to be too formidable and uncertain at this time, and (c) the present procedures of the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) and the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) prevent consideration of the full capacity of a site. Thus, utilities would assume major risks in acquiring land for large sites, such as for NECs.
- 2. As the need for electrical energy grows and the availability of widely dispersed sites diminishes, the NECs and the energy center concept in general may evolve but not on a large scale in the near future.

- 3. A number of utilities indicated interest in NECs as a future development beyond the present planning horizon. Some believe that NECs may be the best means of assuring the public that the risk of plutonium diversion has been minimized; and, in this context, they believe that NECs may be important as sites for plutonium fueled reactors and colocated fuel cycle facilities.
- 4. Immediate interest in developing NECs is primarily confined to two regions, both characterized by rapid growth and strong interties the Southeast and the West Coast. NECs also may become attractive in the near future to areas where loads are concentrated and dispersed sites already have become scarce (e.g., the Mid-Atlantic states). However, offshore siting is seen as another alternative for these coastal areas.
- 5. The development of the transmission network required for system growth is foreseen by many utilities as a more difficult problem than the siting of generating stations. To the extent that NECs may add to the transmission corridor requirements over dispersed sites, this is viewed as a major obstacle to the NEC concept.
- 6. Only a few utilities have considered co-location of fuel cycle facilities with power generation. Of those who expressed an opinion, most thought co-location would be an unnecessary complication to the siting process, and they would prefer to ship fuel to a regional processing center. The respondents who had given consideration to NECo were generally also willing to consider co-located fuel reprocessing as a part of the overall strategy.

### Power plant siting

With respect to nuclear power plant siting in general, most utilities report that they have sufficient sites available for the next 10 to 15 years; but, in general, three important issues emerge as common concerns of utilities throughout the nation. There was a strong consensus that these issues require the prompt attention of the federal government in order to avoid a breakdown in the system's ability to provide adequate electrical energy to meet future needs. These concerns are:

- 1. Federal efforts are needed which will direct all regulatory agencies toward a common goal. Local, state and federal agencies need not duplicate the efforts of one another; but there needs to be coordination. The licensing process is becoming so politically oriented that soon the needed electrical output of the Nation could be jeopardized if a consistent policy is not developed.
- 2. The serious imbalance between desires to protect the environment and the public's need for electrical energy must be corrected. While it is recognized that the environment must be protected, it should also be recognized that there is a need for a proper balance between the environment and energy production.
- 3. The process of predesignating and approving sites for future nuclear and nonnuclear power plants could significantly help utilities in the planning and licensing process provided that the acceptability of predesignated sites is not subject to subsequent arbitrary reversal. Implementation of the predesignated site concept, however, will have to be brought about by cooperation between all licensing and regulatory agencies. Overlaps in regulatory roles should be minimized and a workable one-stop licensing process should be developed.

In summary, the utilities are deeply concerned about problems, increasing in number and severity, which tax their ability to develope sites and build nuclear power stations of any size. They view this as a high priority issue which demands their full and immediate attention before all else. They are convinced that this is the critical issue which may determine the viability of nuclear power and, hence, the future of NECs.

### Roles of the states and federal government

Many interesting comments were received on the roles of the states and the federal government in power plant siting.

1. States: While some degree of approval is required by all states, some states are becoming much more deeply involved in the site selection process, including inventorying or even acquiring future sites. The utilities view this with mixed feelings, but several believe that state action will be required in their region in order to obtain any future sites. States view with concern the intrusion of the federal

government into the power plant siting process, but they recognize that cooperation between the states and the federal government is essential.

- 2. State and federal: The utilities are distressed by the uncertainties, the unceasing regulatory changes and the conflicts that exist between and among the multitude of federal and state agencies that have vary ing degrees of jurisdiction over the siting of energy facilities. They believe that this situation is resulting in major delays and significant cost increases to both nuclear and fossil power plant construction and could even endanger the financial integrity of some utilities.
- 3. Federal: The utilities fault the federal government for having failed to enunciate coherent and flexible energy policies, the lack of will to get on with solving the immediate and urgent problems, and the lack of leadership required for resolution of the issues which are slowing the development of nuclear power and which is needed to obtain public confidence and acceptance of nuclear energy. Specifically, they suggest federal action and leadership in closing the fuel cycle (including waste disposal), research to resolve outstanding safety and environmental issues, and efforts to increase public understanding and acceptance of nuclear power.

## UTILITY SURVEY ON NUCLEAR POWER PLANT SITING AND NUCLEAR ENERGY CENTERS

David F. Cope Howard F. Bauman

### 1. INTRODUCTION

As part of a continuing study by ERDA on the merits and role of nuclear energy centers (NECs) as a means of developing and preserving energy technology options, the Oak Ridge National Laboratory (ORNL) has conducted a survey for the Division of Nuclear Research and Applications of the Energy Research and Development Administration to determine the plans and interests of utilities in developing multiple-unit nuclear power station sites. In the survey, most of the utilities having nuclear-powered electricity generating programs, or imminent interest in such a program were contacted. The contacts included utilities in each of the Electric Reliability Council (ERC) regions to give a representative sampling of the interested utilities and to provide a national scope of coverage.

The NEC concept is fundamentally a siting option; therefore, in framing the survey a number of background questions on reactor siting, in general, as well as specific questions concerning NECs were included. The purpose of the survey is to assist ERDA and other federal agencies in decisions affecting nuclear power plant siting, in general, and nuclear energy centers, in particular.

### 2. SURVEY PROCEDURE

The general approach was to develop information on the utilities' interest in various configurations of multi-unit sites. A typical set of questions asked is given in Table 1. NECs as the focus of the survey were arbitrarily defined as being sites having a capacity of 10 gigawatts electric [GW(e)] or more. The other extreme alternative would be dispersed sites of 1 to 4 units. Since the spread between these two extremes is rather broad, it seemed desirable to also consider sites intermediate

Table 1. Representative questions submitted to utilities

This survey concerns nuclear power plant siting, particularly as related to the development of nuclear energy centers. Specific items on which comments are desired regarding your plans, interests and concerns are:

- 1. The availability of suitable sites, to include:
  - a. Those under control of the utility;
  - other sites not under control of the utility, but potentially available;
  - c. impact of environmental restraints, such as cooling towers, on potential sites; and
  - d. possible need of "site banks" to inventory and hold suitable sites until needed.
- 2. Developing sites that could take up to 5 GW(e) of nuclear power.
- 3. Developing sites for up to 6-10 GW(e).
- 4. Developing sites of 10 GW(e) or more, which are arbitrarily defined as nuclear energy centers, including the possible incorporation of fuel cycle facilities as part of NEC sites.
- 5. Capacity limitation of existing sites and what the limiting factors are.
- 6. Role visualized for the state, with particular interest in areas in which there might be cooperative state, federal and utility endeavors.
- 7. Role visualized for the federal government, and what the federal government (ERDA) can do to help.
- 8. Other comments or suggestions.

in size between the two. Thus, the three questions on sizes of sites were related to:

- 1. Building nuclear power stations having up to four units or a capacity up to 5 CW(e).
- 2. Developing sites for between 4 and 8 units or a capacity of between 5 and 10 CW(c).
- 3. Developing NECs of 10 GW(e) or more, to possibly include fuel cycle facilities.

Since NECs are strongly site dependent, three closely related questions

### were:

- 4. The availability of suitable sites.
- 5. The desirability of establishing inventory "banks" of good sites.
- 6. The effect of environmental protection measures on the potential capacity of sites.

The next question was included as part of a related study on the potential capacity of existing nuclear plant sites; the results will be reported separately in a forthcoming report.

7. The physical limitations of sites.

From the viewpoint of determining what ERDA's future role should be, it seemed important to gain some insight on how the utilities view the government's role, both at the state and federal levels. Thus, two questions:

- 8. How do the utilities view the role of the states in developing nuclear power station sites?
- 9. What can the federal government (particularly ERDA) do to help in developing nuclear power station sites?

The survey was implemented by initiating a telephone contact with the appropriate utility official responsible for long-range planning, typically the president, or a vice-president for power, nuclear power, or engineering. According to the respondent's wishes, the survey was then conducted immediately by telephone, by a follow-up letter, or by a combination of the two. The telephone surveys, being a give and take discussion, frequently deviated from the standard format and, generally, were more responsive and enlightening.

In order to elicit frank and uninhibited responses from the utilities, it was emphasized that the results of the survey would be aggregated by regions and that the emphasis would be on the collective responses rather than individual utility responses. The contacts with the utilities were initiated in March 1976 and continued throughout the calendar year. About 79 utilities or closely associated organizations were contacted, and 68 responses were obtained for an average response rate of 85%. The utility companies contacted are listed in Table 2.

Table 2. Utility contacts on nuclear power station siting

### Northeast Power Coordinating Council Area (NPCC)

Boston Edison Company
Central Maine Power Company
Consolidated Edison Company of
New York
Long Island Lighting Company
New England Electric System
New York State Electric & Gas
Corporation
Niagara Mohawk Power Corporation

Northeast Utilities
Power Authority of the State of
New York
Public Service Company of New
Hampshire
Rochester Gas and Electric
Corporation
New England Planning Committee
Yankee Atomic Electric Company

### Mid-Atlantic Area Council (MAAC)

Baltimore Gas and Electric Company Delmarva Power & Light Company General Public Utilities Company Pennsylvania Power & Light Company Philadelphia Electric Company Potomac Electric Power Company Public Service Electric & Gas Company

### East Central Area Reliability Coordination Agreement (ECAR)

American Electric Power Company
Cincinnati Gas and Electric
Company
Cleveland Electric Illuminating
Company
Consumers Power Company
Detroit Edison Company

Duquesne Light Company Northern Indiana Public Service Company Ohio Edison Company Public Service of Indiana Toledo Edison Company ECAR

### Southeastern Electric Reliability Council (SERC)

Carolina Power & Light Company
Duke Power Company
Florida Power Corporation
Florida Power & Light Company
South Carolina Electric & Gas
Company

South Carolina Public Service
Authority
Southern Services
Tennessee Valley Authority
Virginia Electric and Power
Company

### Mid-America Interpool Network (MAIN)

Commonwealth Edision Company Illinois Power Company Madison Gas and Electric Company Union Electric Company Wisconsin Electric Power System
Wisconsin Power and Light
Company
Wisconsin Public Service
Corporation

### Mid-Continent Area Reliability Coordination Agreement (MARCA)

Dairyland Power Cooperative
Iowa Electric Light & Power
Company
Iowa-Illinois Gas & Electric
Company
Iowa Power and Light Company
Minnesota Power & Light Company

Nebraska Public Power District Northern States Power Company Omaha Public Power District Otter Tail Power Company

### Southwest Power Pool (SPP)

Arkansas Power and Light Company
Gulf States Utilities Company
Kansas City Power & Light Company
Kansas Gas and Electric Company

Louisiana Power & Light Company d Mississippi Power & Light Company Public Service Company of Oklahoma

### Electric Reliability Council of Texas (ERCOT)

Houston Lighting & Power Company

Texas Utility Services, Inc.

### Western Systems Coordinating Council (WSCC)

Arizona Public Service Company Idaho Power Company Los Angeles Department of Water & Power Nebraska Public Power District Pacific Gas & Electric Company Pacific Power & Light Company Portland General Electric Company Public Service Company of Colorado Puget Sound Power & Light Company Sacramento Municipal Utility District San Diego Gas & Electric Company Southern California Edison Company Utah Power & Light Company Washington Public Power Supply System

It was decided to aggregate and analyze the data by the nine Electric Reliability Council Regions composing the National Electric Reliability Council (NERC), as shown on the map, Fig. 1.<sup>2</sup> These nine regions include all of the U.S. and parts of Canada though this study is confined to the 48 contiguous United States. The regions covering each state are given in Table 3. The results of the nine regional analyses were then used to make an analysis for the nation as a whole.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>alpha}$  Includes Jersey Central Power & Light Company, New Jersey Power & Light Company, Pennsylvania Electric Company and Metropolitan Edison Company.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup>Includes Appalachian Power, Indiana and Michigan Electric Company, Kentucky Power Company and Ohio Power Company.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>mathcal{C}}$  Includes Alabama Power, Georgia Power, Gulf Power and Mississippi Power Companies.

d Members of Middle South Utilities Company.



Fig. 1. National electric reliability council regions.

Table 3. Regional Reliability Council state coverage

										•
	ERCOT	SPP	WSCC	ECAR	MARCA	MAIN	SERC	MAAC	NPCC	Number of councils in the states
Alabama							Х			1
Arizona			X							1
Arkansas		Х								1
California			X							1
Colorado			X							1
Connecticut									X	1
Delaware								Х		1
D.C.								X		1
Florida							Х			1
Georgia		•					Х			1
Idaho			X							1
Illinois					Х	X				2
Indiana				X						1
Iowa		**			Х					1
Kansas		X					17			1
Kentucky		17		X			Х			2
Louisiana		X							37	1
Maine				v				х	Х	1 2
Maryland				Х				Λ	Х	1
Massachusetts Michigan				Х		Х			Λ	2
Minnesota				Λ	Х	Λ				1
Mississippi		Х			Λ		Х			2
Missouri		X				Х	Λ			2
Montana		Λ	Х		Х	11				2
Nebraska			X		X					2
Nevada			X							1
New Hampshire									Х	ī
New Jersey								х	X	2
New Mexico		Х	Х							2
New York									Х	1
North Carolina							Х			1
North Dakota					Х					1
Ohio				Х						1
Oklahoma		X								Ì
Oregon			X							1
Pennsylvania				Х				X	X	3
Rhode Island									Х	1
South Carolina							X			1
South Dakota			Х		Х					2
Tennessee				X			X			2
Texas	X	X	Х							3
Utah			X							1
Vermont									X	1
Virginia				X			Х	X		3
Washington			Х							1
West Virginia				Х	-		Х			2
Wisconsin					Х	X				2
Wyoming			X	•						1
Total	1	8	14	9	8	4	10	6	9	

There are a number of advantages to using the Electric Reliability Council Regions as the regions to be analyzed. These regions are the basic components used by the Federal Power Commission and the NERC in doing planning on a nationwide basis for electricity generation and distribution. The geographical scope of the regional councils is a logical, voluntary, grouping of interrelated utility systems set up to deal with the problem of improving the adequacy and reliability of bulk electrical power supply in a given region. Memberships of the regional councils comprise essentially all of the electric power systems in the United States and portions of Canada.

As is often the case, the by-products of the survey may turn out to be as useful as the primary purpose for which it was designed. For example, the survey produced valuable information on how the utilities view the future of nuclear power, the problems and difficulties which they face across the board on the siting of electricity generating stations in general, and nuclear plants in particular, the frustrations and heavy penalties being imposed upon the utilities and through them to the consumer by the uncertainties of the overall situation and what actions they see as being needed from the government. These will be discussed in the analyses and conclusions sections of the report.

### 3. ANALYSIS OF RESPONSES

### 3.1 Tabulations

Many of the responses to the survey were found to lend thomselves to tabulation, even though the survey was loosely structured and the responders were encouraged to talk about their thoughts and concerns whether or not they were directly responsive to the questions. Often similar comments were received from a number of utilities, and these recurring comments have been tabulated along with the replies to specific questions in the accompanying Table 4. In addition, certain comments which seemed unique, or especially interesting or appropriate, were selected by region and either summarized or given verbatim in Sect. 3.2.2.

Table 4. NEC interest survey — nationwide summary

				Re	liabil	ity regi	on				ļ ·	Reliability region									
^	NPCC	MAAC	ECAR	SERC	MAIN	MARCA	SPP	ERCOT	WSCC	Total		NPCC	MAAC	ECAR	SERC	MAIN	MARCA	SPP	ERCOT	WSCC	Tota:
Number of utilities responding	12	.7	6	8	6	7	7	2	13	68	Number of utilities responding	12	7	6	8	6	7	7	2	13	68
Availability of sites											Comments against NECs										
Ample	2	0	1	3	2	0.	0	1	0	9	Insufficient system power demand	2	2	1	4	3	6	5	0	5	28
Sufficient for foreseeable future	3	4	3	5	1	5	5	0	3	29	Overconcentration effects on reliability,	6	0 .	3	3	2	4	1	2	4	25
Sufficient for present, but future limited	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	3	6	transmission, and load balancing							_	-	•	23
Limited now	4	3	1	0	0	0	1	0	5	14	Land, water, and population limits	5	2	1	2	1	3	0	0	5	19
Practically unavailable	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	Lack of public acceptance	5	0	1	1	1	0	2	0	2	12
No comment	1	0	1	0	3	2	1	Ü	1	9	(Uninjer on se legating fuel such facilities i NEG								•	_	
Opinion on predesignated sites											Opinion on co-locating fuel cycle facilities in NECs Fawor	^	,	,		Λ		•	•	_	_
Favor	8	2	1	6	0	3	1	0	10	31	Neutral	1	1	3	, O	0	0	1	0	2	8
Neutral	1	3	ñ	n	1	Ô	1	1	0	7	Do not favor	U T	1	0	0	Ţ	0	Ü	1	0	4
Do not favor	Ô	1	2	0	1	Ô	1	0	0	, 5	No comment	41	1 /	J.	,	1	0	0	0	6	12
No comment	3	i	3	2	4	4	4	1	3	25		A.1.	4	2	4	4	/	6	1	5	44
	,	*	,	-	7	-	7	•	,	23	Comments for co-located fuel cycle facilities								•		
Comments for predesignated sites											Improved safeguards and reduced transportation	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	3
Ease and speed licensing	3	0	1	2	1	0	1	0	5	13	Comments against co-located fuel cycle facilities								•	_	•
Government cooperation needed to acquire future sites	5	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	3	1.2	Appear to be uneconomic	^	,	^	2	•	•	•	_	_	_
Comments against predesignated sites											Increased risks	0	1	0	2	0	0	0	Q	2	5
Ineffectual because of change in regulations,	1	1	1	1	1	2	1	0	1	Q		U	U	U	Ü	Ü	Ö	0	1	2	3
technology, or land use	1		1	1	1	2	1	U		,	Impact of Coastal Zone management										
Ties up capital	2	1	0	1	٥	n	1	ο .	ý	7	Generally restricts sites	· 4	0	0	3	0	0	0	0	3	10
Not needed	1	0	0	<u>.</u>	1	0	1	1	0	,	Restricts sites but noncoastal sites available	1.	1	0	2	0	Ō	1	Ō	ī	6
Various difficulties with utility-owned site banks,	0	1	0	0	1	1	<u></u>	Ô	1	4	Restricts sites, noncoastal sites limited	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	3
e.g., public opposition, land speculation	U	1	O	U	1	1	U	O	1	-	Not applicable							_	•		•
Government-reserved sites might be diverted to other	Λ	0	0	2	0	Λ	Λ	0	0	3	No comment	7	6 .	0	2	0	0	2	1	2	20
uses	U	U	V	,	U	U	U	U	U	,	Character days a later will be					_	<del>-</del>	_	-	-	
				•							State roles desired by utility	,	•	_		_	_	_		_	
Interest in developing large sites											Cooperation and open communication	6	U	3	1	2	0	2	1	5	20
Up to about 5 GW(e)											Reduced overlapping state regulation	1	2	L	2	3	0	0	1	2	12
Active interest	6	2	4	6	2	1	3	0	8	32	Establish firm policy; stable regulation	1	3	0	0	1	1	0	0	2	8
Possible future interest	3	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	5	Balanced regulation between development and	. 0	1	1	1	1	O	1	1	0	6
No interest	1	5	2	2	2	4	2	2	3	23	environment	,	,	^	-	_	•	_	_	_	_
No comment	2	0	0	0	2	1	2	0	1	8	Favor government-reserved sites	I.	1		Ţ	0	0	0	0	2	5
Up to about 10 GW(e)											See no need for government-reserved sites	U	U	U	2	Ü	U	1	U	U	3
Active interest	0	0	0	2	1	Λ	1	0	2	7	Federal help desired by utility										
Possible future interest	2	1	2	2	2	0	0	0	1	11	Establish firm policy, stable regulation	5	5	1	3	2	0	2	0	4	22
No interest	7	6	7.	2	1	6	/.	2	Ω .	41	Shorten the licensing time	1	3	2	2	1	.0	2	0	7	18
No comment	) 2.	0	0	0	2	1	2	0	2	91	Improve federal-state interaction; one-stop approval	2	4	1	1	1	1	0	0	6	16
	2	U	U	U	2		2	U	۷	<b>9</b> ,	Reduce overlapping federal regulation	2	3	1	4	0	1	1	0	3	15
NECs 10 GW(e) and over											Close the fuel cycle	2	2	1	2.	0	1	1	1	5	15
Active interest	0	0	0	1	0	n	Ω	0	2	3	Aid research needed for regulatory decisions	3	3	. 1	1	2	0	2	0	1.	13
Possible future interest	2	3	3	0	2	1	1	1	1	14	Balance regulation between development and	1	1	1	`4	0	2	2	1	0	12
No interest	8	4	3	7	2	5	4	1	9	43	environment				•						
No comment	. 2	0	0	0	2	1	2	0	1	8	Public education to obtain public acceptance	2	2	3	1	1	0	0.	0	1	10
Comments for NECs											Reduce federal intervention	0 .	1	0	1	0	0	3	1	1	7
Considered feasible with power pooling	2	1	Λ	Λ	Ω	Ω	Λ	1	1	5	Assist in selection and development of sites	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	0	1	6
Could relieve pressure to acquire scarce dispersed	0	1 T	1	0	0	0	0	V T	U T	2	Make federal lands available	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	3	5
sites	U	1	1	U	U	U	U	U	U	۷	Make replication and standardization work	0	2	0	0 .	0	0	0	0	1	3

Since the tables are necessarily terse, some additional explanation and amplification seems in order. As has been explained, the responses were obtained in a loosely structured form, and the fitting of the responses to the tabulation therefore represents our interpretation. It is believed that more significant results were obtained by allowing the responder maximum flexibility to discuss what he considered to be important.

On the first question, the availability of sites, most utilities discussed this question in reference to their present siting needs and practices, i.e., for dispersed siting. Several also responded in the context of availability of multiple-unit or NEC sites. The responses have been arranged into five graded categories ranging from "ample" to "practically unavailable" on the basis of dispersed siting in the "foreseeable future," i.e., looking ahead 15-20 years.

On the question of predesignated sites, it was usually easy to categorize the utility response as either in tavor or not in favor. Some utilities made perceptive comments pro and con but did not take a position, while others had not given predesignated sites much thought but were willing to go along with any reasonable siting plan and are listed as neutral. As is true of all the questions, only those utilities that made no reply or comment at all were listed in the "no comment" category.

The comments pro and con received on all questions are listed in decreasing order of frequency of response (as can be seen in Table 4). The comments in the category "Government cooperation needed to acquire future sites" often included the idea that government-sponsored site banks were becoming the only means by which future sites could be acquired in some regions. The category "Ineffectual . . ." often included the idea that by the time a predesignated site was needed, various changing conditions might render it no longer acceptable. The category "Various difficulties with utility-owned site banks . . ." often included the idea that proposed sites get "shot down" as fast as they are put up because of public opposition and/or agency objections. Further factors in this category include segments of public opposition to power growth, difficulty in justifying future need to the state utility commissions, and the lack of a legal purchase or option mechanism

for predesignated sites. Several utilities believe that site-banking is not possible for utilities but will require preemptive action by states, regions or even the federal government.

The responses to the questions on developing large sites were fairly clear, although there was some overlapping of the category "Possible future interest" with both the other categories. The most frequent comment, "Insufficient system power demand," generally implied that the utility was not interested in power generation on a regional basis. Only a handful of utilities are large enough to support an NEC entirely on their own system. The opposite comment, "Considered feasible with power pooling," generally implied that the utility was or would be willing to participate in regional power generation. The comment, "Lack of public acceptance," often implied an anti-growth feeling in the region which might lead to public opposition focused on an NEC.

The responses to the question on co-locating fuel cycle facilities in NECs was also fairly clear. The comment, "Appear to be uneconomic," generally implied that fuel cycle facilities closely linked to power generating facilities are likely to be smaller than the economic optimum size. The comment, "Increased risks," included perceived financial risks of a large project as well as physical risks due to possible common disasters or accidents.

The responses to the question on coastal zone managment all indicated some restriction on siting and were subdivided into the three indicated categories. The question did not elicit much comment. The tabulation on the "State roles desired by utility" question, focuses on the role as desired by the utility, although several responses merely described the roles now played by the state in power plant siting. The "Cooperation . . " response often implied that the state was presently seen in a position of opposition rather than cooperation. The "Stable regulation" comment often included the thought that changes in regulations and uncertainty about future regulations were major obstacles to siting. The "Balanced . . . environment" comment often included protests of unreasonable or even ridiculous environmental restrictions.

On federal help, the "firm policy" comments often included protests on the frequent changes and uncertainty in regulations. The "research"

comments often included the thought that federal research could be used to clarify and settle many issues and thus reduce the uncertainty in regulation. On "Public education . . ." the thoughts included the federal government presenting the facts of nuclear energy to the public and taking the heat off the utilities. While most utilities have public information programs, they are seen as representing the utility interests, whereas a government information program might be seen as relatively impartial.

The "Reduce federal intervention" comments included thoughts that federal regulation was excessive, expensive and time-consuming. The "Assist in selection . . . of sites" comments looked to federal help in overcoming tight state and local restrictions and local opposition to sites.

### 3.2 Analysis by ERC Regions

For each reliability region, the analysis consists of tabulated responses (Table 4), comments selected from the responses (Sect. 3.2.2) and a brief discussion. The comments are numbered, in order, for each Electric Reliability Region (ERC) and in each case refer to Sect. 3.2.2.

### 3.2.1 Highlights, differences between regions

### Northeast Power Coordinating Council (NPCC)

The northeast region (Table 4, Col. 1), consisting of New York and New England, is heavily committed to nuclear power, no doubt spurred by severe winters and a paucity of fossil fuels. Perhaps these are reasons that the responses from this region include many of the lengthier and more substantial comments that were received. The region is diverse, and population densities range from very dense to sparse. The availability of sites ranges correspondingly from "ample" to "limited." Predesignated sites are strongly favored and not one utility opposed this concept. Many felt that predesignating sites would be the only way that sites could be obtained in the future.

There was great interest in multiple-unit sites up to about 5 GW(e), but practically no interest in larger sites. Only two utilities thought

an NEC might be even of future interest, and one respondent flatly rejected the concept of the NEC (comment 5). Frequently cited factors against NECs were transmission problems and land, water and population limits. A special problem in New England is the legal barrier to transporting large blocks of power across state lines (comments 1 and 8). The utilities are pessimistic about cooperation between the states.

There was a great silence on the question of co-locating fuel cycle facilities with power generation.

Frequently mentioned was a desire for greater cooperation from the states. From the federal government, the establishment of a firm policy and the improvement of federal and state interaction were repeatedly cited.

### Mid-Atlantic Area Council (MAAC)

The Mid-Atlantic region (Table 4, Col. 2) includes densely-populated sections of the east coast megopolis, as well as the rural areas of Maryland and Pennsylvania. It is one of three regions (NPCC, MAAC and WSCC) where a substantial fraction of utilities reported site availability as already limited. However, about half the utilities responding still regarded site availability as sufficient for the foreseeable future.

On the question of predesignated sites, feelings were mixed. This region includes Maryland, the only state so far to embark on a program of state-purchased power plant sites. Utility comment was very restrained on this issue. It seems apparent, however, that the state is having difficulty in obtaining acceptable sites for much the same reasons as private and public utilities.

With two exceptions, the utilities in this region expressed no interest in developing large sites, not even up to 5 GW(e). However, several utilities believe that good potential sites for NECs exist in their service areas if the proper conditions could be obtained for the development of NECs.

There was little interest in including fuel cycle facilities with power generation and almost no comment on coastal zone management.

The region has been outstanding for its interest in proposed innovations in power generation in the areas of new reactor types (HTCRs),

offshore siting (New Jersey), and NEC studies (Pennsylvania). The utilities are uniformly discouraged with the results of efforts at innovation (comment 5).

Among the most frequent comments were that the federal government should establish a firm energy policy and that federal-state interaction be improved with one-step licensing if possible.

### Eastern Central Area Reliability (ECAR)

The east-central region (Table 4, Col. 3) is centered roughly on Ohio. The utilities in this region generally have sufficient sites and do not favor predesignated sites. Many of them are interested in multiple-unit sites up to 5 GW(e) and there is considerable future interest in NECs. On the Great Lakes, floating nuclear plants are considered as an alternative (comment 3). A majority favor co-locating fuel cycle facilities in NECs, but note comment 1.

Better cooperation with the states was mentioned often, as was federal help with public education toward public acceptance.

The factor of technological and other changes was seen as a major obstacle to NECs so that the concept is seen as premature (comment 1).

. . . \

### Southeastern Electric Reliability Council (SERC)

The southeast (Table 4, Col. 4) is one of two regions (SERC and WSCC) in which at least one utility expressed an active interest in NEC siting. It is probably significant that both regions expect above average economic growth, including power demand, over the next several decades. Site availability is as good in the southeast as anywhere in the country; in view of this, it was somewhat surprising that the utilities which expressed an opinion unanimously favored predesignated sites. Ease and speed of licensing was given as a reason. However, comments were 2 to 1 against government-reserved sites. Several utilities expressed the thought that government-reserved sites might later be diverted to other uses, a thought which was not expressed in any other part of the country.

A number of utilities expressed interest in developing sites up to 5 GW(e) and several up to 10 GW(e). However, with one exception, there was no interest in larger NECs; insufficient system power demand was the

most common reason. A closely related response is that the availability of sites suitable for NECs is away from the regions of growing electricity demands. A preponderance did not favor co-locating fuel cycle facilities with power generation, giving economics as the reason.

On federal help, most often cited were reducing overlapping federal regulation and a better balance between further energy development and protection of the environment.

### Mid-America Interpool Network (MAIN)

The Mid-America region (Table 4, Col. 5) in Illinois, Missouri and Wisconsin includes both highly-industrialized and largely rural areas. Site availability in this region is very good, although some good sites have been rejected for political reasons. In Wisconsin in particular, a strong no-growth philosophy has created difficulties in siting large power plants (comment 3).

There is interest in developing large sites up to 5 GW(e) and 10 GW(e), but larger NECs are considered premature (comment 1).

Several comments indicated that overlapping state regulation should be reduced.

### Mid-Continent Area Reliability Coordinating Agreement (MARCA)

The Mid-Continent region (Table 4, Col. 6) consists of the north central states and is generally sparsely populated with few major load centers. Coal and lignite are available by barge on the Missouri River or by rail and will meet most of the region's power needs for some years to come.

Several utilities favored predesignated sites; however, there is some feeling that both federal and state involvement in site selection will only further impede the process (comment 3). There is practically no interest in developing large sites, in NECs or in co-locating fuel cycle facilities. This region has experienced an upsurge of anti-power growth, opposition to large sites, and opposition to transmission lines, etc., which has strongly influenced the attitudes on the siting of nuclear power stations.

### Southwest Power Pool (SPP)

The Southwest region (Table 4, Col. 7) is centered in the Lower Mississippi valley, and most of the utilities serving this region have sufficient sites along the Mississippi River and its tributaries. There is considerable interest in developing large sites up to 5 GW(e) and to 10 GW(e), but there is no perceived need for larger NECs in the foreseeable future. One utility suggested a federally-owned facility as a possible NEC site (comment 1).

Several of the respondents indicated that they were reasonably happy with state regulation (which tends to be laissez-faire in this region) and that there was already too much federal intervention in power plant siting. One utility noted that the River Bend NEC study in 1974 had aroused considerable public opposition (comment 3). Some of the points raised by the opposition were that the impacts of an NEC were unfairly concentrated in one locality and that an excessively large transmission network would be required.

### Electric Reliability Council of Texas (ERCOT)

The ERCOT region (Table 4, Col. 8) is entirely within the state of Texas, which probably simplifies the administration of the Reliability Council and which could also simplify the administration of an NEC if one were planned for this region. The availability of sites in Texas ranges from ample to future limited, where the primary limitation is the availability of water. There is presently no interest in developing large sites even up to 5 GW(e), although one utility mentioned the possibility of a future NEC on the Gulf. At present, Gulf waters are not widely used for power plant cooling (comment 1).

Feelings on federal help appear to be mixed; one utility thought that federal regulation was excessive while another expressed a desire to cooperate with ERDA in the area of nuclear waste storage (comment 1).

### Western Systems Coordinating Council (WSCC)

The Western region (Table 4, Col. 9) is large and diverse. It includes all the Rocky Mountain and Pacific coast states, and covers

nearly 1.6 million square miles, which represents more than 1/2 of the contiguous land area of the United States. The region is tied together in an elaborate transmission network dating back to the early federal hydropower projects. From the standpoint of power coordination, it is subdivided into four natural subregions resulting from concentration of natural resources and economic influences.

- I. The Northwest Power Pool
- II. The Rocky Mountain Power Area
- III. New Mexico Power Pool
- IV. The Pacific Southwest Power Area

Based on the geographic features of the region, it is logically considered as three large subareas:

- 1. The inland mountain, high plains and desert region
- 2. The Pacific Northwest
- 3. California

The inland subregion is sparsely populated, has few major load centers and, in fact, exports hydro and fossil power to the other subregions. Water is very scarce, and the water in the major rivers like the Colorado is completely allocated. The utilities in this region generally report that sites are limited by the availability of water.

The Pacific Northwest utilities report that site availability is sufficient. The Columbia River is a major source of water and several smaller rivers are also available on the west side of the Cascade Mountains.

California is without doubt the major problem area in power plant siting in the United States. Power demand and load growth are high, water is scarce and, in Southern California, almost nonexistent; the use of the cold waters of the Pacific has been seriously restricted by the Coastal Zone Management Act, and the region is the most seismically active in the nation. The utilities in this region report sites as limited or practically unavailable.

Utilities in the entire Western region favor predesignated siting. Oregon has already established the country's first state pre-approved site (comment 10), and the state of Washington has an active state power plant siting commission which is working closely with the utilities in

identifying good sites. A number of comments mention predesignated sites as a means of easing and speeding the licensing process. There is active interest in developing large sites all the way up to NECs, particularly in the Pacific Northwest. The mountain states generally see no need for large stations and the lack of water limits the development of large sites.

Opinion is divided on co-locating fuel cycle facilities with power generation. Most utilities would prefer to ship their fuel to a regional reprocessing center. One utility favors a satellite concept in which the fuel recycle center is the hub of a wheel with the nuclear power centers being located along the spokes within easy transportation distance to the hub. Several utilities reported that coastal zone management was restricting sites and that non-coastal sites were limited. Several utilities believe that ocean water can and should be used for power plant cooling (comment 5).

Concerning federal help, the most frequent comments mentioned the need to shorten the time required for licensing, the need for improved federal-state interaction and the need to close the fuel cycle. Several utilities thought that making federal lands available for power plant siting could be helpful.

### 3.2.2 Selected comments by regions

The following comments were taken directly from responses of the individual utilities in each region. Where written responses were obtained, the comments are presented verbatim. Where telephone responses were obtained, the comments are taken from the interviewer's summary of the convergation.

### NPCC selected comments

1. There are many suitable sites in Maine, but one has to distinquish between suitability and availability. The main limitations on suitability are cooling water and transmission. However, acceptability is something else again. The number of sites

that are suitable and acceptable are very small. Many sites are available that have suitable characteristics but cannot be purchased because the owners have sufficient money and do not want to sell the land. Maine does not have a law of eminent domain; therefore, the sites cannot be condemned for use by the utilities.

A national standardization policy for public service commissions is very necessary. This is needed to assure the utilities that they will not go bankrupt because of failure to get a public service commission approval or the approval of any other regulatory body, such as NRC, over which they have no control. Some of the construction work now in progress should be folded into the rate base.

Another problem concerns the individual states trying to impose moratoria against nuclear power or any other source of power. These are problems of nationwide concern and go beyond any one state; therefore, it seems to be the type of problem that the federal government should take on. If any state succeeds in proposing a moratorium; and this could come about, it would create uncertainty and confusion that would only add to the present problems now faced by the utilities. The problem would be helped and difficulty avoided if Congress or the courts could say that the states could not do this and whatever actions are taken in this area must be done by the federal government because of nationwide implications.

Another ERDA undertaking would be to establish a mandate whereby generic issues could be resolved generically. The issue here is why must each utility and each different state prove that a given number of GW(e) proposed to be generated from nuclear plants cannot be produced more effectively or efficiently by windmill, solar or whatever. At present, every utility in every state has to go through this exercise. Whereas, it seems to be a common problem that could be solved if some federal agency would assume this task. This seems to be a good

role for ERDA; and, if they could accomplish it, it would be a major contribution.

2. Four-unit sites would carry the utility into the 1990's, at which time they would hope to put in off-shore ocean siting.

Regarding site banks—the New York Power Pool Survey comments to the effect that it could lead to the banking of sites and that they are interested in accumulating an inventory of sites and seeing if they can be obtained. The utility thinks that this should be done at the pool level with joint planning by all of the utilities. The utilities can do load flow and other studies to determine what are the best sites, which is a capability that does not exist with either the federal or the state governments. The federal and state governments should be involved in a regulatory role only. This banking of sites by the New York Power Pool would not be a heavy investment, and the utilities can handle it.

- 3. Their pool operates as a free-flowing integrated system; and, when they go to get state permits, there is a real problem in getting the states to look at it as a region. Instead, they insist on viewing the situation on a selfish individual state basis.
- 4. There are very few, if any, sites where a station of four to six units could be developed; and we have no plans for such development. Offshore stations may be a technical possibility for the distant future.

The federal government could encourage the states to take a regional approach to site banking. An example would be for the states to work with NEPLAN to establish site banks for the New England area.

5. Since development of the "site bank" would occur prior to the need for such sites, the NRC must agree to review designated sites prior to the need for power being demonstrated.

One aspect of state involvement which should be avoided is financing of the project. The tax implications of large state financed power generating facilities would arouse substantial public criticism. In addition, the general financial condition of certain states would render this all but impossible.

The institutional problems of ownership, responsibility, participation and liability are also complex and will be difficult to resolve. If private utilities are permitted to participate, will participation be available to all of them and on what schedule? Who will be responsible for financing the NEC? Can both private industry and the government share in the ownership and revenues? How would New England react to a proposed federal "Connecticut Valley Authority?"

The most helpful thing that ERDA could do for this situation is to openly acknowledge the institutional impracticalities and technical infeasibility of the Nuclear Energy Center concept.

Based on available studies and information, the NEC concept should be rejected and, in its place, a more practical and feasible long range development program should be implemented.

6. Safeguarding plutonium is the prime and major argument for nuclear energy centers. We do not foresee nuclear energy centers developing for at least 20 years; and, at that time, the plutonium would be the prime moving force forcing us to nuclear energy centers.

ERDA should be trying to do something to establish when releases of such heat would be beneficial. For example, they should do some research and development to determine what really happens in a large lake or ocean. There surely must be some beneficial effects to be obtained from the large amounts of reject heat and the effects are not necessarily all bad. This whole area needs further attention and study.

7. Transmission corridor banks would make more sense than having generating site banks. Since the federal government is involved in the building of highways and the establishment of rail corridors, there is no reason why they could not also establish transmission corridors for the transport of electricity.

How waste heat can be used effectively: One thought is that it could be applied to the heating and cooling of

metropolitan areas in a similar way as to what is being done in Europe. Large amounts of energy are involved, and large amounts of money could be saved. Hot water at 200°F, should be usable for cities.

8. It makes sense to go to as many as four units if they are spaced in time so that 50% of the power produced serves the state. If more than 50% is exported outside of the state, changes in the state law would have to be made, and perhaps in the federal law. The reason is that the right of public domain is permitted by the State of New Hampshire and applies only if it bonofito the people of the state. It is difficult to see how this applies for the use of power generated within the state for people outside the state. For example, in Maine, there are lots of available sites; but it is extremely difficult under present laws for them to export the power to users outside the state.

ERDA should be working to reduce the problem of determining what constitutes acceptable effluent discharges to oceans, lakes and rivers. These different media should not be bound by the same set of rules because there is certainly less environmental impact if the water is discharged a mile out into the ocean in contrast to being discharged on shore or being discharged into a lake or river. This needs to be recognized and a different set of rules drawn up to cover these different situations. At the present time, there is no incentive for the utilities to exercise ingenuity and try to minimize the problem because the regulations will not permit them to do so.

### MAAC selected comments

1. The southern tip of the Delmarva Peninsula has potential as a good NEC site. Due to the scarcity of good land-based sites in their section of the country, utilities should be interested in NECs that would meet their common needs. The development of NECs should also help in reducing the tremendous efforts required to get all of the local, state and federal permits required.

Suitable land-based sites are scarce. Offshore plants might help alleviate the situation.

- 2. The state should also provide some arrangements to assure that proper technical evaluations are used in looking at nuclear plants and the siting of these plants to make sure that correct judgments are exercised in imposing additional licensing requirements. The states must recognize that there are energy needs that go beyond the state's boundaries.
- 3. One of the primary roles for ERDA is to move in such a way as to establish nuclear as a sound energy alternative.

ERDA needs to move rapidly and decisively to resolve the safety issues, those relating to the reactor, to the whole fuel cycle and to the fuel recycle. The security of plutonium is a particularly important issue in this regard.

These issues are a combination of technical and public acceptance problems. For example, on the reactor safety, it is important to get out the results from the Idaho test and do more if necessary in this area. This would help immensely in eliminating some of the public's concerns.

Expediting development of the reprocessing centers: It has gotten to the point where the federal government needs to provide guidance in this area. The private industry cannot cope with the situation and ERDA needs to lead the way.

Expedite the breeder program and guide this program to where it will be in line with operating characteristics of reactors that utilities will need. The reactor following the CRBR should be 800-1000 MW(e) and provide a prototype that can be used by the utilities for ordering reactors for their systems.

Concerning transportation, much of this is in the nature of a public relations problem; technically, it seems to be in good shape. This is an area in which good and effective use could be made of television to demonstrate the tests to which these carriers are exposed and how rugged and well-built they really are.

The utility would like to see more support for the thorium cycle converters, the gas-cooled reactor, both the HTGR and the fast gas-cooled breeder.

- 4. The idea of site banks is a good one, but it is difficult for the utilities to carry out without help. This must be done on an entire state (or perhaps regional) basis, and a number of utilities would have to be involved. Regions involving several states make more sense than individual states. The intrastate problem is difficult; the federal government may have to become involved to solve the interstate problem, which is even more difficult.
- 5. Land sites are scarce in New Jersey. Offshore sites are a possibility; and, in the long run, utilities may have to go to the ocean; there are a number of good ocean sites. Otherwise, they must detach themselves from water and go to dry cooling which is less efficient.

Something new (i.e., offshore) adds time and money to the costs and drives people to old methods, even though they frequently are not as good.

The federal government should study the cooling tower problem as many good potential sites will be degraded by requiring cooling towers where they are not needed.

The concentration of cooling towers is a limitation to the capacity of large sites.

The states must take firm positions on where plants can be sited. At present, the utility must get a federal license before the state will even look at the site. This involves about sixteen months. After that, individuals can take the issue to court causing further delays. The state must be willing to look at the interests of the state as a whole and override local interests where necessary.

# ECAR selected comments

1. It would take at least 10 years to develop an 8-10 GW(e) site. By then, the conditions might have changed and would create a

new set of problems. For example, should all the units be the same or should they be different units; should they be by the same manufacturer or by different manufacturers? Experience indicates that great changes may take place over the periods of time which are being discussed.

Extensive transmission systems would be required which would demand high voltages. This, in turn, leads to economic issues. Nuclear energy centers are a long time off, as system loads can be handled up to the late 1990's with 3-4 unit sites.

In general, putting the nuclear fuel cycle within the nuclear center adds another dimension to an already complex problem; and there may be no way of doing it easily. Otherwise, the idea is attractive in theory.

2. Predesignated sites for which "---ology" studies have been completed and for which approval has been provided by state and federal agencies may become necessary because of competing uses for desirable sites. These approved sites should be reviewed periodically to determine whether they are still viable. Sites could be predesignated for less than ten units; there should be several predesignated sites in a region, as it would probably be undersirable to concentrate a great amount of capacity in one site to the exclusion of other sites.

Apparently the lawmakers and courts have been trying to sort out the responsibilities of the federal government and the state governments since the day the Constitution was signed. There will probably be conflicts in the power plant siting area if both the states and the federal government are involved in site determination. We hope that the utilities and their customers will not be caught in the middle.

 State approval of sites is already required. The state should develop a more equitable formula for distribution of tax revenue from power stations.

There is considerable enthusiasm for offshore siting of floating nuclear plants (FNP) in the central Great Lakes (Huron, Michigan and Erie). More than enough power plants must be built in this area over the next 25 years to support an FNP industry. This would require commitments from several area utilities. This is seen as a solution to environmental problems; however, the FNP proposal for the East Coast has drawn considerable opposition from environmentalists.

4. Having cooling towers on the lakes, such as Lake Erie, does not make any sense; and, yet, the utilities see the EPA and other regulatory agencies going further and further in this direction without first checking the alternatives and the pros and cons of the various alternatives.

#### SERC selected comments

 The FEA could educate the unions so that they would have a better understanding of the problems. This is a large group who have every interest for supporting nuclear power, and they should be told what the facts are.

With respect to ERDA, the problem of spent-fuel storage is the greatest potential threat to nuclear power in this country. Unless it is solved, nuclear power will come to a stop. ERDA should get the reprocessing moving so that the utilities know where they stand with respect to the cost of recovering uranium and plutonium.

2. The utility prefers wholly-owned projects and does not want the administrative problems of large NECs.

The utility has a number of company-owned sites on lakes or streams that can be dammed. They believe in and would like to develop cooling ponds, but EPA is forcing cooling towers which raise more problems than they solve.

3. There is a definite need to establish procedures, regulations, etc., for predesignated sites. Presently, the Nuclear Regulatory Commission is addressing this subject and the State of Florida has, to some degree, addressed this subject in the Electrical Power Plant Siting Act. Much work, however, needs to be done before this concept of early site designation becomes useful to utility planners.

Utilization of cooling towers should increase the number of good sites available. Development of salt water cooling towers would make it possible to pipe salt water to sites located outside the "coastal" zone.

4. The federal government could develop a strong backbone of 500 or 765 kV transmission lines.

The utilities are very reluctant to endorse the concept of nuclear energy centers because of the real possibility that it would introduce control and implementation by the federal government.

#### MAIN selected comments

1. Nuclear energy centers of more than ten units will not be desirable for at least 25 years or more because of the very heavy concentration of generating capacity that would result. As a general rule, we try to have no more than 15% of system capacity at any one location. Consequently, our system capacity would have to grow to about 70,000 MW before a fully developed NEC site would be acceptable.

Cooling towers on large lakes and oceans create more problems than they solve.

- There should be some generic studies on alternate sources of power, and each utility and each state should not have to do these studies independently. At the present, we are spending a lot of money and time on reinventing the wheel and reinventing it in a number of different places. The federal government could do a great deal to eliminate this confusion and organize a program which would obtain answers to these problems. Seismology is a case in point. A great deal of information is needed on what can be tolerated in the way of seismic characteristics for an area in order to locate a plant in the area. There are many other problems of a similar nature.
- 3. There are people in their state utility commission who order them not to build large power plants of any kind. Instead, the utility commission is pushing for 300 MW(e) plants which can be

built quickly and at dispersed locations. The state people do not like long-range planning, and nuclear in any size is not popular in Wisconsin. Also, dispersed sites are more environmentally acceptable to the public utility commissions than concentrated sites. They want no part of the fuel storage, fuel reprocessing or waste management in the state; therefore, NECs in any form or size are verboten in Wisconsin. The environmental issues make any site suspect, and the utilities are uncertain in what direction to go to find future sites to meet their needs.

Some states will not accept federal preemption, federal cooperation or federal control. The State of Wisconsin is pushing for more and more authority in the areas of radiological control, environmental issues, cooling water, land use and other environmental matters. States are looking at their own self interests and are not inclined to cooperate. What the federal agencies need to do is to establish some sort of standards and impose them by preemption on the state.

### MARCA selected comments

 The utility has accepted a state-chosen site over their own choice.

The state agency is supposed to develop an inventory of sites but hasn't gotten around to it yet.

- 2. The utility is afraid to request a second plant for one site because it might lead to the demand to retrofit the existing plant with whatever (seismic) is decided necessary for the new plant.
- In building either fossil or nuclear sites, the state agencies are voicing concerns about too many transmission lines and too much concentration of generating facilities with too much environmental impacts coming from large plants, so they are raising the question as to why not move the plants in to the load center and eliminate the long transmission lines and the environmental impacts from the large sites—forget the economy

of scale and try to move more in the direction of satisfying the environmental requirements. Thus, in spite of the technical arguments, the political climate is unfavorable to the concentration of electric generating facilities and is moving in the direction of dispersed siting.

Site banks are not practical without federal legislation. Without federal preemption, federal restrictions would only pile on top of state restrictions, further impeding the site-selection process.

4. The utility will rely on local coal for the foreseeable future.

Transmission lines required for large power developments are

very objectionable to the farm community.

# SPP selected comments

- 1. The utility has been pushing for the nuclear fuel assurance act, and they are looking at one of their sites as a possible location for a centrifuge separation plant. A site considered suitable for an NEC is the NASA Mississippi Test Facility, with 84,000 acres in Hancock County.
- 2. The utility was caught up in the moratorium of licensing sites by the Nuclear Regulatory Commission, and they now do not know where they stand. They have 100 construction workers on site but are just holding, waiting to try to get some decision from NRC. They do not understand and find it hard to believe that NRC would stop the plant which is under construction because of the court decision and not stop other plants which are in operation. They think that NRC has some flexibility in this regard and that they are being overly conservative.
- 3. The AEC-Gulf States study on River Bend in 1974 aroused a lot of opposition around Baton Rouge. People got the impression that we were planning two to four plants per year to a level of 30 to 40 units, and they were opposed to this much concentration of nuclear power at one location. The load growth will dictate the rate at which plants are added to the system and that the system with plenty of good sites will disperse the plants to

avoid long transmission distances. We foresee the heavily populated sections of the country going to NECs faster than other parts of the country; but, even under the best circumstances, NECs will be a long time developing.

#### ERCOT selected comments

1. Sites of 8 to 10 GW(e) would be feasible only on the Gulf of Mexico and probably would require the cooperation of several utilities. We are not familiar with the problems of using Gulf water for cooling but believe that they would be substantial.

Finding a solution to the nuclear waste disposal problem which is acceptable to the public should receive a high priority with ERDA. If ERDA has plans to investigate nuclear waste storage areas in Texas, we would like to be informed of them in advance and would welcome an opportunity to participate in discussions with state and local officials.

# WSCC selected comments

1. Suggest NECs as part of preplanned system with preestablished transmission corridors.

The fact that an American engineer-contractor can construct a nuclear plant, using U.S. developed technical knowledge and NRC approved standards, in approximately half the time on foreign soil than it takes to build the same plant in the U.S. is strong proof that siting and other regulatory approval is taking an unreasonable amount of time.

- 2. The utility industry in the state is in chaos and will fall apart unless something is done soon.
- 3. Place responsibility for environmental assessment at the state or regional level.
- 4. ERDA must push the breeder demonstration faster.

ERDA should give a receptive ear to the development of the gas-cooled concept and both the HTGR and the fast gas reactor. This opens other options, such as dry-cooling and gas turbines,

which could have a very beneficial effect on the electrical power generating industry.

5. However, a Western regional fuel cycle facility including colocation of fuel fabrication, reprocessing plants and waste treatment facilities seems to make a lot of sense. For example, one such center located in Nevada could readily serve all Western U.S. reactors. We do not regard the fuel transport problems significant enough to warrant the much greater risks associated with also locating large numbers of power reactors at the same site with the fuel cycle facility.

This comprehensive land use planning effort is required to maintain the unique beauty of the Oregon Coast and at the same time allow for orderly multiple-use development including access to the cold ocean water resource for power plant cooling. Once-through cooling with ocean water is still regarded as feasible in Oregon.

- 6. We believe the state should have complete authority over site screening and certification. The federal government should simplify the process of safety certification on predesignated sites similar to what is proposed in the current federal legislation.
- 7. The Coastal Zoning Act has forced utilities, who would prefer to locate on the coast, inland to the central valley. This imposes additional water needs on the already water-short central valley.
- 8. Two major problems to NECs in Southern California are: lack of water except along the ocean, and opposition to transmission lines; the latter being a very serious limitation.

The "bank" could be controlled by a consortium of utilities or by the federal government but not the state.

Develop a national siting plan.

Establish and provide for transmission corridors.

Federal and state should come up with a program that will eliminate duplications. Would like for the "feds" to take over

state utility commissions in order to provide uniformity and eliminate confusion, contradictory requirements and duplications.

- 9. We do not see any advantages to the NEC concept for the southwest. Plants in the range of 5-6 GW(e) or less appear to be adequate for the remainder of this century.
- 10. The federal government must move very carefully in its consideration of nuclear energy centers. Any conclusions or policy decisions recommending NECs could have a serious negative impact on present and future utility licensing proceedings. A long and complicated transition would be required to go from the present dispersed siting practices to something as complex as an NEC.

The much-needed "one-stop" concept for permits, reviews, etc., is vital to reduce the costs in dollars, manpower and schedule of site prequalification and plant licensing. Maximum flexibility and efficiency in generation resource allocation and implementation can only be achieved through reducing the number and frequency of utility-government interfaces to the absolute minimum.

The first state to qualify a predesignated site is Oregon, which has prequalified the Boardman site for both fossil and nuclear power plants. However, if it is to be used for a nuclear site, NRC approval must still be obtained since there is as yet no federal mechanism for prequalifying sites.

The utilities can proceed to develop predesignated sites in a planned and logical manner up to a certain point. However, the orderly step-by-step resource planning process is interrupted by the uncertainties associated with the acquisition process including the uncertainties of permits, hearings, licensing and public reactions. Removal of these uncertainties is one of the major requirements of all thermal power plant site prequalification efforts.

The costs of prequalifying a site are large and represent a substantial investment on which the utility expects to show a return in providing assurance that future generating resource additions can be brought on line with minimum delays. A principal difficulty that was encountered in the certification of the "blanket" Boardman site stemmed from the desire of permit-granting agencies to review and base permit issuance on a complete plant design. Agencies involved are not prepared to limit review for permit issuance to just the plant design criteria compared to allowable impacts at the specific site. Since the basic premise underlying prequalification efforts is to "decouple" the site qualification proceedings from the rigid engineering design and construction schedules, it is implicit that a complete design will not exist at the time the site is being qualified.

# 3.3 Supplementary Information

While no attempt has been made to do a complete literature survey, a number of miscellaneous documents that are pertinent to the subject of the survey have been reviewed. Several of these appear to be of sufficient value to the purpose of the survey to be described in this section. Three of the documents are reproduced in full in the Appendices.

# 3.3.1 Massachusetts Office of Environmental Affairs

Evelyn F. Murphy, Secretary of the Executive Office of Environmental Affairs, the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, stemming from her review of the final environmental impact statement on the proposed Pilgrim II nuclear power plant, wrote a letter (November 29, 1976) to then President-elect Carter, concerning the urgent need for a national energy policy by the federal government. This letter was co-signed by government, environmental and business leaders of Massachusetts. Although the letter addresses a much broader issue, the comments are pertinent to the subject of this report, and the letter is presented in Appendix A.

# 3.3.2 New England Electric System

In connection with the same issue, Guy W. Nichols, President of the New England Electric System, also wrote a letter (November 26, 1976) to then President-elect Carter, in which he urged the development of an

energy policy which would: (a) promote environmental and economic balance; (b) address the key problems in the field of nuclear energy, including construction at a government site of an integrated complex of facilities for spent fuel storage, reprocessing, fuel fabrication and waste storage; and, (c) continue the development of the breeder reactor. A copy of this letter is attached as Appendix B.

# 3.3.3 Washington Public Power Supply System (WPPSS)

WPPSS commissioned Woodward-Clyde Consultants to do a siting report dealing primarily with nuclear power plant sites but with an appendix on fossil-fired plants.<sup>3</sup> This study identified, analyzed and ranked a number of potential sites on the WPPS system. This report would be an excellent reference on potential sites in the WPPSS region.

# 3.3.4 The Pacific Power & Light Company (PP&L)

PP&L commissioned Woodward-Clyde Consultants to do a power plant site evaluation on the West Roosevelt site located on the Columbia River in central Washington about 65 miles southeast of Richland, Washington and across the river from the Oregon border. This site has excellent characteristics with NEC potential.

# 3.3.5 Portland General Electric Company (PGE)

PGE has evaluated  $^5$  an energy facility (coal and nuclear) site near Boardman, Oregon ( $^4$ 0 miles WNW of Pendleton) about 12 miles from the Columbia River. This site with the current 5000 acre reservoir has a heat rejection capacity of 10,000 MW(t). The site has been approved with certain administrative stipulations by the Oregon Energy Facility Siting Council. With additional cooling capacity and land, this appears to be an excellent candidate site for an NEC.

#### 3.3.6 State of New York

In 1975, the Public Service Commission of the State of New York directed the member systems of the New York Power Pool to undertake a statewide siting survey for the purpose of conducting a statewide selection of acceptable power plant sites. The preliminary New York Power

Pool Statewide Selection Guide report was submitted in May 1976.<sup>6</sup> The guide is divided into four stages enumerated below:

- a. Identification of candidate areas
- b. Identification of candidate sites
- c. Identification of preferred sites
- d. Identification of recommended sites

The statewide survey is being conducted by the member system to identify potentially suitable sites. Only stages a and b will be utilized. The latter two stages will be implemented when a member system(s) is attempting to identify a site for a specific need at a specific point in time.

The final Site Selection Guide and Survey is scheduled to be submitted to the Public Service Commission in December 1977.

This report is an example of actions taken or being taken by several states (e.g., Maryland, Pennsylvania, Minnesota and others) to survey and characterize potential power plant sites within their states.

# 3.3.7 State of Minnesota

The State of Minnesota enacted in 1973 the Minnesota Power Plant Siting Act which directs utilities to do 15-year advance forecasts on plans to own or operate large electric power generating plants or high voltage transmission lines and to identify the tentative regional location of these facilities. The Act also directs the Minnesota Environmental Quality Council to assemble and publish (before July 1, 1975) an inventory of potential large electric power generating plant sites and high voltage transmission line corridors. However, the timetable has slipped; and, as of December 1976, this inventory had not yet been published. The text of the Act is given in Appendix C.

# 3.3.8 East Central Area Reliability Council (ECAR)

ECAR is presently engaged in making an overall assessment of siting requirements within their region for the next 10-20 years. The timetable for completion of the study has not yet been established.

# 3.3.9 Federal Energy Administration

An Energy Facility Siting Workshop sponsored by the Federal Energy Administration was held at Williamsburg, Virginia in December 1976. The Summary of Proceedings has been issued. Much of the contents of these proceedings, especially the recommendations, are very relevant to the subject of this report.

#### 3.3.10 Iowa Utilities

The utility owners of the proposed Vandalia, Iowa Nuclear Plant recently announced (The Energy Daily, February 22, 1977) suspension of plans for the plant until perhaps mid-1979. The reason given for the suspension was that regulatory uncertainties have reached such proportions that the utilities feel it highly improbable that the unit could be completed within an acceptable time frame and at a predictable cost.

This is a specific example of a siting problem due to regulatory uncertainties.

#### 3.3.11 Wisconsin Utilities

Four Wisconsin Electric Utility Companies announced (Wall Street Journal, January 19, 1977) plans to evaluate a new site for a proposed nuclear power plant to replace the former Koshkonong site. The decision to reconsider relocation of the plant followed rejection by the states' Department of Natural Resources of the Koshkonong site. The U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission announced in November 1975 a preliminary staff evaluation which was favorable. This is a specific example of contradictory federal and state regulatory actions.

# 3.3.12 U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC)

The U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission announced in October 1976 that they, in cooperation with other federal agencies, were undertaking a study designed to improve procedures for federal and state review and approval of sites for proposed nuclear facilities. The purpose of the NRC study is to eliminate duplication or overlapping of site review procedures without infringing on the rights of other federal or state agencies.

One phase of the study is to consider the need for site "banks." The study is expected to be completed by mid-1977.

# 3.3.13 Lovins vs Forbes

A recent article, "Energy Strategy: The Road Not Taken," by Amory Lovins<sup>8</sup> proposes a move away from large central power stations to more reliance on diverse, decentralized technologies. This strategy, if accepted, would eliminate the need for large electric generating plant sites.

This argument was rebutted in an article, "Energy Strategy: Not What But How," by Ian Forbes, <sup>9</sup> in which he suggests that Lovins is raising false hopes for simple utopian solutions to our energy problems.

# 3.3.14 Utility Dispatch Areas

Although there are hundreds of individual utilities throughout the country, the Federal Power Commission advises that there are only about 130 power dispatch areas and that all of the utilities feed their generated power into one of these dispatch areas. This suggests that looking at these power dispatch areas might be the first approach at examining the regionalization pattern which is necessary to the development of NECs.

# 4. NATIONAL SUMMARY AND ANALYSIS

The survey uncovered differences in utility interests and attitudes toward reactor siting within regions and between regions. On the other hand, certain opinions and comments were obtained from such a preponderance of the responses as to constitute a national concensus of the utilities on several issues.

The tabulated responses to the survey are summarized by regions in Table 4. On the availability of sites, the utilities saw themselves as either "haves" or "have nots" with few in between. Despite the prevalence of siting problems in recent years, fully two-thirds of the utilities responding reported sufficient sites for the foreseeable future. The acute problems in siting appear to be subregional; in several instances, one or more utilities have reported sites as limited when other

utilities in the same region reported site availability as sufficient or even ample.

Most of the utilities were asked for their opinion on the effect of the requirement for cooling towers on the capacity of sites. We have evaluated their responses qualitatively (following an unsuccessful attempt at constructing a meaningful tabulation). Several utilities noted that the capacity of sites on medium-sized lakes and rivers can be greatly increased by the use of cooling towers. This is because moderatesized water bodies, while not having sufficient heat capacity to absorb large quantities of heat without reaching high temperatures destructive to natural life, can generally supply sufficient water for evaporative cooling devices such as cooling towers, which then discharge the heat directly to the atmosphere. However, a number of utilities point out that under some conditions cooling towers are not the best method of heat dissipation and if used would reduce the capacity of a site. For some sites, cooling ponds are preferred, especially in water-short regions where the consumptive use of water by cooling towers becomes significant. Cooling ponds may consume less water than towers because part of the heat is dissipated by back-radiation, especially at night, rather than by evaporation. Of course, ponds are subject to natural evaporation losses (due to insolation), but many sites require a large reservoir to provide a dependable year-round water supply; and, therefore, natural evaporation losses would occur in any event. For sites on large water bodies, such as the ocean, once-through cooling may be preferred. The NECSS-75 study has postulated that the cooling towers for an NEC might have to be widely spaced (e.g., 2 1/2 miles between clusters of four) to avoid undesirable atmospheric effects. Such large sites would be difficult to obtain; with once-through cooling, a smaller site could serve the same capacity. Many utilities believe that the environmental effects of carefully designed once-through cooling systems will be acceptable for large water bodies.

A large majority of the utilities expressing an opinion favored predesignated sites. Most hoped that this would ease and speed licensing; while in several regions, there was a strong feeling that government cooperation would be necessary to obtain any future sites. Some utilities were strongly opposed to predesignated sites, and even those

who favored them or were neutral made some negative comments. The most universal reservation was that the idea might be unworkable because of the changes in regulations, in the design of power plants and in the surrounding land use during the time that the site would be held.

A substantial majority of the respondents indicated interest in developing sites up to about 5 GW(e). Stations with three, four or five 1200 MW(e) units appear to be an imminent evolutionary development on many systems. There is presently only scattered interest in developing sites approaching NEC size; seven utilities were interested in sites up to 10 GW(e) and three in NECs of 10 GW(e) or more. However, 14 additional utilities expressed possible future interest in NECs; many of them felt that NECs might be of interest to them beyond their present planning horizon, i.e., in about 20 years. A number expressed the thought that it was premature to concern themselves with NECs now because they did not anticipate sufficient load growth on their systems to support NECs and, further, that they had sufficient dispersed sites available for the foreseeable future. In some parts of the country (e.g., Wisconsin) there is a strong segment of opinion in state agencies favoring dispersed power generation to avoid (if possible) the necessity for additional transmission corridors. Several utilities saw the provision of an adequate transmission network as a more difficult siting problem than the siting of generating stations; some recommended strong federal participation in upgrading the grid nationwide, pointing out that the national interest may have to take precedence over local interests in the siting of transmission corridors.

On the question of co-locating fuel cycle facilities in NECs, most utilities have not concerned themselves with fuel processing; and a large majority made no comment. Of the comments received, over half did not favor co-location. Most saw this as an unnecessary complication to the already complex problems that would arise in siting and operating an NEC. Of the comments favoring co-location, several looked ahead to the time of plutonium-fueled reactors such as the LMFBR, where they saw advantages in improved safeguards and reduced transportation of fuel.

Barely half of the utilities along the coasts offered any comment on the impact of coastal zone management, probably because many states are not active in this area. Three utilities, all in California, reported that they were seriously restricted by coastal zone management in that the availability of noncoastal sites was limited. Several utilities felt that it was important that the oceans remain accessible as a source of cooling water.

Many interesting comments on the relationship of the utilities with their state and the federal government were received. In general, but with notable exceptions, they were happier with their state than with the federal government. Many utilities wanted better communications with and more cooperation from their state agencies, and several complained that their states took a role of opposition to them rather than giving the cooperation that they desired. There was considerable complaint about overlapping state regulation, but this was mentioned even more frequently with federal regulation.

Not too many utilities ventured to comment on whether the states should reserve sites (for site banks), and opinion was divided. In some regions, generally characterized by limited availability of acceptable sites, the utilities were resigned to or even welcomed a large role for the state in the selection and reserving of power plant sites. In other regions, generally where good sites were available, the utilities saw no need for the government to become involved. In only one instance (where state regulation was seen as oppressive) did a utility want the federal government to reserve sites.

The most frequent comment concerning the federal government was the desire for a firm energy policy and stable regulation. The utilities felt that they could live with any reasonable degree of regulation if they only could know what it would be. In at least one instance, the uncertainty over future regulation has led a utility to cancel a proposed nuclear station. The utilities are particularly distressed by changes in regulation that cause delays in the construction and startup of plants, delays which can cost the utilities (and their customers) thousands of dollars per day. The first four (most frequent) comments under "federal help" in Table 1 are concerned with streamlining the licensing process and reducing unpredictable regulatory delays.

The next most frequent comments concerned closing the fuel cycle; a number of utilities indicated the need for federal leadership and prompt decisions in the fields of spent fuel processing and waste disposal. Several utilities thought that more federal research would be helpful, particularly as applied to safety and environmental problems on which future regulatory decisions will be based.

There were few comments on environmental restrictions, which at first might appear surprising considering the public attention that environmental problems have received in recent years. However, it must be remembered that this was not one of the questions posed to the utilities, hence the responses were spontaneous and voluntary. Twelve utilities commented on federal environmental restrictions and eight on state regulation. The general feeling was that environmental protection was out of balance with the need to develop energy sources and facilities. Several utilities mentioned unreasonable or even ridiculous restrictions with costs that greatly exceeded any apparent environmental benefits.

Several utilities suggested that the federal government could help with stronger efforts in public education concerning nuclear power in order to obtain greater public acceptance. It was felt that government efforts in this area would be more appropriate and have greater credibility than similar efforts by the utilities.

Several utilities pointed out the waste of effort in having to address generic questions in individual licensing actions. For example, one utility suggested that the federal government make a generic analysis of alternative energy sources (i.e., solar, fusion, geothermal, etc.) rather than each utility doing this for each plant.

About the same number of utilities wanted the federal government to assist in the selection and development of sites as thought the federal government was already too involved. Some utilities, especially in strong states-rights states, were opposed to federal intervention in the siting process. On the other hand, several respondents thought it would help for the government to make federal lands available for power plant sites. Several mentioned that the government should get their nuclear plant replication and standardization policies working effectively before attempting to proceed with NECs. Many utility representatives found it

difficult to think about NECs and other long-range policies because they felt overwhelmed by current problems.

#### 5. CONCLUSIONS

The major conclusions which can be drawn from the survey of utilities on Nuclear Power Plant Siting are as follows:

# 5.1 <u>Interest in Developing Nuclear Energy Centers</u> (Including Fuel Cycle Facilities)

1. Many of the utilities evidenced little or no interest in the development of NECs. The reasons given for this lack of interest were:

No need for NECs

Load imbalance and reduced system reliability resulting from over-concentration of generating facilities

System demand inadequate to support NECs until much later in the future

Long transmission distances resulting in high costs and public opposition to the transmission lines

Lack of regulatory guidelines prerequisite to planning and building NECs

NECs may focus public opposition from anti-nuclear and anti-growth elements

Large front-end capital requirements for NECs

Changing technology and regulatory requirements which would make NECs obsolete before they are finished

Lack of suitable sites for NECs

Lack of thought about NECs because of overwhelming short-term problems

Incompatibility of state laws and regulations and state and local agency attitudes with NECs

- A small number of utilities believe that NECs will come but that it will be an evolutionary development taking place over an extended period of time.
- 3. In contrast to their attitude on NECs, most utilities are thinking of multi-unit sites containing two to six units. Many

such sites will be developed cooperatively to serve several utilities.

- 4. Many utilities see evolutionary growth leading to multipleunit sites up to 5 GW(e), but few see this extending to the 5 to 10 GW(e) range in the immediate future. A greater number expressed interest in the long-range future development of large NECs [greater than 10 GW(e)].
- 5. Varying degrees of interest were indicated by several utilities in moving toward, or becoming involved in, the development of NECs. There are recognized sites on utility systems which with the acquisition of more land could accommodate NECs.
- 6. The utilities showed no interest in co-locating fuel cycle facilities with power generating facilities. Several favored regional fuel processing centers. Some were willing to consider co-located fuel cycle facilities in future NEC planning.
- 7. The issue of confining plutonium-fueled reactors and their fuel cycle facilities to NECs was not included as part of this survey. However, several utilities volunteered the opinion that, while they saw no immediate need for NECs, the plutonium proliferation issue might be a strong motivation for future development of NECs. On the other side, some utilities believe that the long-range development of nuclear power would be jeopardized by restricting plutonium to NECs.

# 5.2 Siting of Nuclear Power Stations in General

 Utilities are becoming increasingly concerned about the difficulties of obtaining approval of what they consider to be good and acceptable nuclear power station sites. These concerns derive from:

Ever-changing regulatory requirements

Uncertainty in the regulatory process from the local to the national level

Deeper involvement by more federal, state and local regulatory agencies leading to uncertainty, confusion and contradictory requirements with consequent longer schedules and higher costs

Increased opposition by interventionists and environmental groups leading to long drawn-out regulatory delays and often times court hearings

A growing tendency in some states to require consideration of state selected sites

A move in several states to discourage large plant sites in favor of smaller sites serving local regions

The increasing risks being imposed upon utilities through selecting and developing sites which later may not be approved

- 2. As indicated by the analyses of Sect. 3, most of the electric reliability regions have an ample number of sites for the next 20 to 30 years, but there are areas (e.g., the mid-Atlantic Seaboard) where there is a great dearth of sites. In these areas, utilities are pursuing alternatives including sites outside of their geographical region, off-shore sites or importation of electric power.
- 3. There is an increasing tendency for utilities to cooperatively develop sites upon which they will build even single unit nuclear power stations to serve several utility systems. Thus, there is a trend toward cooperative projects of the type involved on a large scale in the development of NECs.
- 4. Utilities exhibited considerable interest in developing "banks" of predesignated sites, and some believed this to be an essential step in order to assure a sufficiency of sites for future needs.

  The things working against predesignated sites are the:

Lack of regulatory criteria and procedures for judging and approving predesignated sites

High front-end capital costs of selecting, developing and preserving predesignated sites

Lack of financial incentives for the utilities to develop predesignated sites; and considerable financial risk in the selection and licensing of predesignated sites

Concern about speculative entrepreneurs getting control of a site area before the utility can gain control of the land

Danger of sites becoming unacceptable because of changes in technical and regulatory requirements or changes in land use

Longer time provided for opposition to develop to a site which is known well in advance of the time of need

- 5. There were generally expressed concerns about the state or federal governments having control of predesignated site "banks" because it was feared that the sites would not, for one reason or another, be available when needed (tied up in red tape or even diverted to other uses). At the same time, the utilities were firm in their opinions that the full cooperation of all levels of government will be essential to the development of site "banks."
- 6. Some states are moving ahead with the planning and development of potential sites (e.g., Maryland, New York and Minnesota) either through the utilities or by the state itself acquiring the sites. Maryland and New York appear to be progressing rapidly in this direction. However, comments indicate that Minnesota is moving slowly and the utilities in general have no confidence that identification of sites by the state will expedite the siting process.

# 5.3 Limitations to Existing Sites

- Existing sites are being gradually degraded with respect to their potential capacity due to changing criteria and public attitudes (which influence the regulatory bodies) on what constitutes an acceptable site. These changes are often related to intangible factors such as opposition to growth.
- 2. Only a few states have established criteria under the Coastal Zone Management Act; but, in most cases where such criteria have been established, the siting of power plants within the coastal zone has been severely limited.
- 3. The use of cooling towers may in some cases increase and in other cases reduce the potential capacity of a site. Other cooling alternatives, particularly cooling ponds and once through ocean cooling, may be environmentally and economically more desirable for some sites.

#### 5.4 Role of the States

As might be expected, there is a wide divergence in the roles of the various states now and the roles which they might be expected to assume in the future. Some of the conclusions in this regard are:

- The states, in general, are assuming a more direct and aggressive role in the review and regulation of nuclear power plant sites.
- 2. Many states are moving independently of and, in some states, are knowingly moving in opposition to various federal regulatory agencies. Often, states are applying more stringent regulatory requirements; and, in most cases, increased state involvement is adding to the uncertainties of what is required from the utilities in the development of nuclear power station sites.
- 3. There is a strong agreement among practically all of the utilities on the need from the state of:

Cooperation and free and open communications

The need for firm and clear state siting policies

The need for a stable regulatory environment

Better cooperation between the state and federal governments

Reduction in the number of agencies from whom the utilities

must obtain approvals

4. The political atmosphere and attitudes in some states are incompatible with the establishment of regional electric power generating sites which serve to meet power needs of several states.

# 5.5 Role of the Federal Government — Ways in which the Federal Covernment (i.e., ERDA) Can Help

This question elicited a wide range of responses, some related directly to siting and some not. Most of the responses pertained to the political or regulatory role of the federal government, rather than the technical role, which is the primary area of ERDA's responsibility. However, the responses which were received on the technical role of ERDA were substantive and informative. The following conclusions are related

to these two different aspects of the survey. Concerning the regulatory role:

- 1. Underlying all other issues for the utilities is the important and urgent need to establish a clear and coherent national policy on energy, in general, and on nuclear energy, in particular.
- 2. The most stifling influences which the utilities perceive as inhibiting the siting of nuclear power stations in particular, and all types of electric generating facilities in general, are the multitudinous and diverse uncertainties which abound throughout the siting process. These exist at both the state and federal levels, but the utilities want the federal government to take the lead in acting to eliminate these. This would help to establish a state environment in which plans could be made and actions taken in compliance with a known set of requirements which would not be subject to constant capricious changes.
- 3. Closely related to the above is the need for closer cooperation between the federal and the state governments with the objective of delineating and clarifying the proper role of each. Federal-state interaction should be undertaken to eliminate unnecessary regulatory redundancies, move toward the goal of one-stop siting approval and, as a consequence, shorten the licensing time and cut the costs of constructing electric generating stations.
- 4. Utilities are greatly concerned that a serious imbalance has been created between desires to protect the environment and the public's need for electrical energy. While generally accepting the need for environmental regulations, they feel that some restrictions are unreasonable and ineffective and that the public is paying for restrictions from which they receive little or no benefit.

In the technical areas, some of the more important conclusions are:

- 5. Public acceptance is the critical issue for nuclear power, and ERDA should take the lead in developing a strong program to inform the public. This includes doing something to get a more balanced presentation of the issues by the communications media.
- 6. ERDA should give aid in the adoption of rules which will provide the utilities an incentive to "bank" good sites.

- 7. ERDA should move promptly and decisively on the R&D and other actions needed to close the nuclear fuel cycle.
- 8. ERDA, EPA and NRC should study the different effects of cooling water discharges to rivers, lakes or oceans. At present, the same criteria apply in all cases and logically it would seem that different criteria should apply to these different situations. In addition, R&D should be done to determine the benefits versus the penalties of using once-through cooling instead of cooling towers, particularly on large bodies of water such as the oceans, the Great Lakes and large rivers.
- 9. R&D should be conducted on how to better characterize a sitc with respect to potential seismic activity. This should include research on the conditions under which soil liquification occurs and how the results can be applied to any specific site.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. D. F. Cope and H. F. Bauman, Expansion Potential of Existing Nuclear Power Station Sites, ORNL/TM-5927 (to be published).
- 2. Provided by National Electric Reliability Council, Princeton, New Jersey.
- 3. Washington Public Power Supply System's "Executive Summary Siting Study" by Woodward-Clyde Consultants, December 1975.
- 4. Pacific Power & Light Company's "Power Plant Site Evaluation" by Woodward-Clyde Consultants, March 1, 1975.
- 5. Portland General Electric Company's "Boardman Site Certificate Application," filed with the State of Oregon's Nuclear and Thermal Energy Council (now The Energy Facility Siting Council), 1973—74.
- 6. Report of Member Electric Systems of The New York Power Pool and The Empire State Electric Energy Research Corporation, 1976.
- 7. Energy Facility Siting Workships Summary of Proceedings, Federal Energy Administration, Williamsburg, Virginia, December 13—15, 1976.
- 8. Amory Lovins, "Energy Strategy: The Road Not Taken," Foreign Affairs 55(1), 65-96 (October 1976).
- 9. Ian Forbes, "Energy Strategy: Not What But How," Energy Research Group, Inc., Farmington, Mass., March 21, 1977.

# THIS PAGE WAS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

APPENDICES

# THIS PAGE WAS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

# Appendix A

MASSACHUSETTS OFFICE OF ENVIRONMENTAL AFFAIRS LETTER TO PRESIDENT-ELECT CARTER

COPY



MICHAEL DUKAKIS
GOVERNOR

The Commonwealth of Massachusetts
Executive Office of Environmental Affairs
100 Cambridge Street
Boston, Massachusetts 02202

EVELYN F. MURPHY 3ECRETARY

November 29, 1976

President-elect James E. Carter Plains, Georgia

Dear President-elect Carter:

On Monday, November 22, 1976, I completed my review of the environmental impact report for the proposed nuclear power plant, Pilgrim II. After careful consideration I have found it adequate within what I believe to be the limits of the Massachusetts Environmental Policy Act. However, there are serious questions which I urge you to address and resolve as a matter of high priority by the federal government.

In NRDC vs NRC, the District of Columbia Court of Appeals quoted with approval from the administrative record: "The impression is inescapable, in view of the present imprecise state of affairs, that no convincing statements exist regarding the long term environmental impact attending the storage and/or disposal of wastes from fuel reprocessing." (9 ERC 1149, at 1163, DC. Cir., July 21, 1976.) Although the NRC has recently decided to continue issuing permits and licenses, the problem of waste disposal still remains. It is beyond the resources of either the Commonwealth or Boston Edison Company, the proponent of Pilgrim II, to resolve this matter. Since well over 90% of the nuclear waste produced is associated with our defense efforts, I urge you to place high priority on the development of a solution to this problem which by logic, as well as law, must be solved at the federal government level.

I further feel that while states may deal with individual plants, as you have often stated, the lack of an overall federal energy policy greatly reduces our ability to make these decisions in a manner that will bring about a compatible balance between available sources of power generation, conservation and research and development. A prompt and indepth study and policy formation for energy on the federal level in line with your expressed concerns will provide the necessary guidelines for coherent state and regional decisions.

If the nation is to place heavy reliance on nuclear facilities to meet our future power needs, the decision to do so must be founded in public confidence that the decision is prudent. It cannot be based on a series of incremental decisions. "As more and more reactors producing more and more wastes are brought into being, 'irretrievable commitments (are) being made and options precluded.'" (NRDC vs NRC 9 ERC 1149, at 1153, DC. Cir., July 21, 1976.) We must now undertake an examination of nuclear power and other alternatives so that we can assure ourselves and our progeny that our choices will always be the correct ones.

I believe that state governments, the business community and environmentalists together share the hope that your administration will move agressively to undertake such a review in the context of adopting a national energy policy. The lead times and financial commitments necessary to construct major generating facilities require a national policy that is appropriate for and may be relied upon for decades. The serious environmental consequences of competing alternatives for base-load power both coal and nuclear, must be thoroughly explored. Conservation must be viewed as a national imperative; and the promise of solar energy must be pursued with major financial support.

The future economic health of this nation, as well as this Commenwealth, is dependent upon adequate supplies of energy at reasonable costs. I, together with labor, management, users and environmentalists, normally adversaries on many issues, urge that a national energy policy be given high priority in your administration and pledge our combined support, cooperation, and participation in the development and implementation of such a policy.

Sincerely yours,

/s/

Evelyn F. Murphy Secretary

Kevin B. Harrington, President Massachusetts Senate Thomas W. McGee, Speaker Massachusetts House of Representatives

Richard J. Dwinell, House Chairman Joint Committee on Natural Resources & Agriculture John W. Olver, Senate Chairman Joint Committee on Natural Resources & Agriculture

Allen H. Morgen, Executive Vice-President Massachusetts Audubon Society

Albert H. Bonfatti, President Associated General Contractors of Massachusetts, Inc.

Felix J. Conti, Chairman Massachusetts Construction Advancement Program

Robert E. Dickenson, Secretary Massachusetts Labor Management Construction Committee

C. Edward Belanger, President Massachusetts Council of Construction Employers, Inc.

Thomas S. Gunning, Executive Director Building Trades Employers Association of Boston and Eastern Massachusetts, Inc.

J. Philip Mitchell Executive Director Construction Industries of Massachusetts, Inc.

Norton H. Nickerson President Massachusetts Association of Conservation Commissions

Kemp Maples
Past President and Executive Board
Massachusetts Wildlife Federation

Nancy Clayton Anderson
Executive Director
Massachusetts Forests and Parks Association

Thomas B. Arnold Chairman, Executive Committee Sierra Club, New England Chapter

Warren M. Little Chairman Massachusetts Conservation Council

William J.P. Cleary, Executive Vice President Massachusetts State AFL-CIO Council

Frank R. Joslin, Executive Coordinator New England Construction Users Council

Norris K. McClintock, Executive Director Conservation Law Foundation of New England, Inc.

Sylvia S. Field, President New England Coalition on Nuclear Pollution

R. Lisle Baker, Chairman Environment Committee Boston Bar Association

Henry E. O'Donnell, Jr., President Massachusetts State Building and Construction Trades Council

Thomas J. Galligan, Jr., President Boston Edison Company President-elect Carter November 29, 1976 Page 6

Joseph J. Struzziery, Jr., Executive Director Utility Contractors Association of New England, Inc.

Thomas S. Deans, Executive Director Appalachian Mountain Club

# THIS PAGE WAS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

# Appendix B

NEW ENGLAND ELECTRIC SYSTEM LETTER TO PRESIDENT-ELECT CARTER

COPY

# NEW ENGLAND ELECTRIC SYSTEM 20 TURNPIKE ROAD WESTBOROUGH, MASSACHUSETTS 01581

Telephone 617-366-9011

November 26, 1976

President-elect James E. Carter Plains, Georgia

Dear President-elect Carter.

The Secretary of Environmental Affairs of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts has written urging you to resolve a number of questions relating to an overall federal energy policy. I join with the Secretary in urging your new administration to give the highest priority to the formulation of a national energy policy which would ensure that as a nation we have available an adequate and reasonably priced supply of energy in all forms, provided under sound business principles with minimum adverse impact on the environment.

It now takes ten to twelve years to construct a nuclear power plant and a period nearly as long is needed for a major fossil-fueled power plant. Decisions regarding major financial commitments are made today in the face of a lack of a national energy policy.

In particular, I urge the development of an energy policy which would:

Promote environmental and economic balance. This should be done to ensure that environmental regulations are established on the basis of reliable evidence and that a reasonable relationship exists between costs and benefits. For example, water quality regulations should permit the use of the ocean for electric power generation, restricted only to avoid demonstrably adverse effects. Regulations concerning land use should include specific provisions for the siting and operation of energy supply facilities.

Address the key problems in the field of nuclear energy. In view of public concerns and existing uncertainties about nuclear power, serious consideration should be given to the construction at a government site of an integrated complex of facilities for spent fuel storage, reprocessing, fuel fabrication and waste storage. Of equal importance is the prompt selection by the federal government of

the method for ultimate storage of this radioactive material. This would deal with the major short-term problems of the fuel cycle and provide public reassurance that the most sensitive issues are being dealt with under government control. Delay in making this decision has caused public misunderstanding of industry and concern over the government's ability to deal with these problems.

Continue the development of the breeder reactor pending the development of a total national energy policy. The assessment of the role of nuclear power in our national energy future should not be penalized by the lack of development of the breeder reactor.

Due to the long lead times required to plan and construct facilities in our industry, decisions made today will have their impact in the mid-1980's or later. Also, current disruptions in planning or construction, such as with the Seabrook, N. H. plant, will not have their greatest impact for some years to come. Our nation needs to move promptly in order to ensure energy self-sufficiency in the 1980's and to assess rationally the roles that various forms of energy will play in the future.

I hope that your administration will move aggressively to develop and adopt a national energy policy and that such a policy will consider seriously these recommendations.

Very truly yours,

/s/

Guy W. Nichols President

# THIS PAGE WAS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

Appendix C
MINNESOTA POWER PLANT SITING ACT 1973

### POWER PLANT SITES [NEW]

### 116C.51 Citation

Sections 116C.51 to 116C.69 shall be known as the Minnesota power plant siting act.

Laws 1973, c. 591, § 1.

Laws 1973, c. 591, § 20, provided: "This act is effective the day following its final enactment." (Governor's approval, May 23, 1973)

### 116C.52 Definitions

Subdivision 1. As used in sections 116C.51 to 116C.68, the terms defined in this section have the meanings given them, unless otherwise provided or indicated by the context.

Subd. 2. "Council" shall mean the Minnesota environmental quality council.

# ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY COUNCIL § 116C.54

- Subd. 3. "High voltage transmission line" shall mean a conductor of electric energy and associated facilities designed for and capable of operation at a nominal voltage of 200 kilovolts or more, except that the council, by regulation, may exempt lines under one mile in length.
- Subd. 4. "Large electric power generating plant" shall mean electric power generating equipment and associated facilities designed for or capable of operation at a capacity of 50,000 kilowatts or more.
- Subd. 5. "Person" shall mean an individual, partnership, joint venture, private or public corporation, association, firm, public service company, cooperative, political subdivision, municipal corporation, government agency, public utility district, or any other entity, public or private, however organized.
- Subd. 6. "Utility" shall mean any entity engaged in this state in the generation, transmission or distribution of electric energy including, but not limited to, a private investor owned utility, cooperatively owned utility, and a public or municipally owned utility.
- Subd. 7. Construction shall be deemed to have started or commenced as a result of significant physical alteration of a site or route but not including activities incident to preliminary engineering or environmental studies. Laws 1973, c. 591, § 2.

For effective date see note under \$ 116C.51.

### 116C.53 Siling authority

The Minnesota environmental quality council is hereby given the authority to provide for power plant site and transmission line corridor and route selection.

Laws 1973, c. 591, § 3.

For effective date see note under \$ 116C.51.

# 116C.54 Advance forecasting

Every utility which owns or operates, or plans within the next 15 years to own or operate large electric power generating plants or high voltage transmission lines shall develop forecasts as succified in this section. On or before July I of each even-numbered year, every such utility shall submit a report of its forecast to the council. Such report may be appropriate portions of a single regional forecast or may be jointly prepared and submitted by two or more utilities and shall contain the following information:

- (1) Description of the tentative regional location and general size and type of all large electric power generating plants and high voltage transmission lines to be owned or operated by such utility during the ensuing 15 years or such longer period as the council deems necessary:
- (2) Identification of all existing generating plants and transmission lines projected to be removed from service during such 15 year period or upon completion of construction of such large electric power generating plants and high voltage transmission lines;

- (3) Statement of the projected demand for electric energy for the ensuing 15 years and the underlying assumptions for this forecast, such information to be as geographically specific as possible where this demand will occur;
- (4) Description of the capacity of the electric power system to meet such demands during the ensuing 15 years;
- (5) Description of the utility's relationship to other utilities and regional associations, power pools or networks; and
- (6) Other relevant information as may be requested by the council. Laws 1973, c. £31,  $\S$  4.

For effective date see note under §

# § 116C.55 ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY COUNCIL

## 116C.55 Development of power plant siting and transmission line routing criteria; public hearings; inventory

Subdivision 1. Policy. The legislature hereby declares it to be the policy of the state to site large electric power facilities in an orderly manner compatible with environmental preservation and the efficient use of resources. In accordance with this policy, the environmental quality council shall choose sites that minimize adverse human and environmental impact while insuring continuing electric power system reliability and integrity and insuring that electric energy needs are met and fulfilled in an orderly and timely fashion.

Subd. 2. Inventory criteria; public hearings. The council shall promptly initiate a public planning process where all interested persons can participate in developing the criteria and standards to be used by the council in preparing an inventory of potential large electric power generating plant sites and high voltage transmission line corridors and to guide the site suitability evaluation and selection process. The participatory process shall include, but should not be limited to public hearings. Before substantial modifications of the initial criteria and standards are adopted, additional public hearings shall be held. Such criteria and standards shall be promulgated on or before July 1, 1974.

Subd. 3. Inventory of potential large electric power generating plant sites and high voltage transmission line corridors. On or before July 1, 1975, the council shall assemble and publish an inventory of potential large electric power generating plant sites and high voltage transmission line corridors. The inventory report of potential large electric power generating plant sites and high voltage transmission line corridors shall set forth the criteria and standards used in developing the potential site and corridor inventory. After completion of its initial inventory of potential sites and corridors, the council shall have a continuing responsibility to evaluate, update and publish its inventory and if, due to changed circumstances or information, a site or corridor is inconsistent with prescribed criteria or does not meet prescribed standards, such site or corridor shall be removed from the inventory of potential sites and corridors.

Laws 1973, c. 591, § 5.

For effective date see note under \$ Cross References
116C.51. Designation of sites and corridors, see \$ 116.57.

### 116C.56 Facility development plans

After publication by the council of its initial inventory of potential sites and corridors, and the criteria by which such sites and corridors were selected, every utility which owns or operates or plans within the next five years to start construction, own or operate large electric power generating plants or high voltage transmission lines shall develop and annually submit to the council its plans for facilities to meet and fulfill the expected future demands for electric energy during the period covered by such report. Such plans may be appropriate portions of a single regional plan or may be jointly prepared and submitted by two or more utilities, and shall contain the following information:

(1) Description of the general size and type of all large electric power generating plants and high voltage transmission lines to be owned and operated by such utility;

- (2) Identification of all existing generating plants and transmission lines intended to be removed from service upon completion of construction of such large electric power generating plants and high voltage transmission lines;
- (3) Identification of the location of the tentative preferred site and at least one alternative site for all large electric power generating plants, and the tentative preferred corridors and at least one alternative corridor for all high voltage transmission lines on which construction is intended to be commenced, and preliminary indication of the potential impact of the planned plants and lines on existing environmental values, and how potential adverse effects on such values will be avoided or minimized at least detriment to the public and

# ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY COUNCIL § 116C.57

to the total environment. Such site and corridor identification shall be made from the inventory published by the council pursuant to section 116C.55 or from sites or corridors offered by the utility. In the event a utility identifies a plant site or transmission line corridor not contained in the council's inventory of potential sites and corridors, the utility shall set forth the reasons for such identification and shall make an evaluation of such identified sites and corridors using the council's plant siting and routing criteria.

Laws 1973, c. 591, § 6.

For effective date see note under § 116C.51.

116C.57 Designation of sites and corridors; approval of transmission line routes and facility construction; emergency certification; responsibilities

Subdivision I. Designation of sites and corridors suitable for specific facilities; reports. Following publication of the inventory of potential sites for large electric power generating plants or corridors for high voltage transmission lines and the submission of the five year development plans of the utilities, a utility must apply to the council in a form and manner prescribed by the council for designation of a specific site or corridor for a specific size and type of facility. No large electric power generating plant or high voltage transmission line shall be constructed except on a site or route designated by the council pursuant to sections 116C.51 to 116C.69. Following the study, evaluation, and hearings, as provided in this section and sections 116C.58 to 116C.60, on any site or corridor proposed by the utilities and such other sites and corridors as the council deems necessary from the inventory the council shall designate a suitable site or corridor for a specific size and type of facility. This designation by the council shall be made in accordance with the site selection criteria and standards established in section 116C.55 and shall be made in a timely manner in a finding with reasons for such choice, and published no later than one year after the request for designation of a site by the utility or no later than 180 days after the request for designation of a corridor by the utility. The time for designation of a site may be extended for six months by the council for just cause. No site or corridor designation shall be made in violation of the site selection standards established in section 116C.55. The council shall indicate the reasons for any refusal and indicate changes in size or type of facility necessary to allow siting in compliance with the standards. Upon designation of the site or corridor, the council shall issue to the utility a certificate of site compatibility.

Subd. 2. Approval of specific high voltage transmission line facilities, designs and routes within a designated corridor. No later than two years after the issuance of a certificate of site compatibility the utility shall apply to the council for a permit for the construction of a high voltage transmission line within the approved corridor. Following study, evaluation and hearings on the type, design, routing, right of-way preparation and facility construction as identified in the utility's application and alternatives to the utility's corridor development proposal as provided in subdivision 4, the council shall issue a permit for the construction of high voltage transmission lines within the designated corridor. This permit issuance by the council shall be made in a timely manner and published no later than 180 days after the application for a permit by the utility.

Subd. 3. Emergency certification. Any utility whose electric power system requires the immediate construction of a large electric power generating plant or high voltage transmission line may make application to the council for an emergency certificate of site compatibility or permit for the construction of high voltage transmission lines, which certificate or permit shall be issued in a timely manner and published no later than 180 days of the application and upon a finding by the council that a demonstrable emergency exists which requires such immediate construction, and that adherence to the procedures and time schedules set forth in sections 116C.54 to 116C.57 would jeopardize

# § 116C.57 ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY COUNCIL

such utility's electric power system. A public hearing shall be held within 90 days of the application. The council shall, after notice and hearing, promulgate regulations setting forth the criteria for emergency certification.

- Subd. 4. Responsibilities, procedures, considerations in designating sites and corridors; approval of transmission line facility construction. To facilitate the study, research, evaluation and designation of sites and corridors for large electric power generating plants and high voltage transmission lines and the approval of specific transmission line facilities and their routes the council shall be guided by, but not limited to, the following responsibilities, procedures, and considerations:
- (1) Evaluation of research and investigations relating to the effects on land, water and air resources of large electric power generating plants and high voltage transmission line corridors and routes and the effects of water and air discharges from such plants on public health and welfare, vegetation, animals, materials and aesthetic values, including base line studies, predictive modeling, and monitoring of the water and air mass at proposed sites and sites of operating large electric power generating plants, evaluation of new or improved methods for minimizing adverse impacts of water and air discharges and other matters pertaining to the effects of power plants on the water and air environment;
- (2) Environmental evaluation of large electric power generating plant sites and high voltage transmission line corridors and routes proposed for future development and expansion and their relationship to the land, water, air and human resources of the state;
- (3) Evaluation of the effects of new electric power generation and transmission technologies and systems related to power plants designed to minimize adverse environmental effects;
- (4) Evaluation of the potential for beneficial uses of waste energy from proposed large electric power generating plants;
- (5) Analysis of the direct and indirect economic impact of proposed large electric power generating plants and high voltage transmission lines;
- (6) Evaluation of adverse direct and indirect environmental effects which cannot be avoided should the proposed site and transmission line corridor or route be accepted;
- (7) Evaluation of alternatives to the proposed site and transmission line corridors and routes;
- (S) Evaluation of irreversible and irretrievable commitments of resources should the proposed site and transmission line corridor or route be approved;
- (9) Where appropriate, consideration of problems raised by other state and federal agencies and local entities.
- (10) Where rules and regulations of the council as set forth in sections 116C.51 to 116C.69 are substantially similar to existing rules and regulations of a federal agency to which the utility in the state is subject, the federal rules and regulations shall be applied by the council. Laws 1973, c. 591, § 7.

For effective date see note under § Cross References 116C.51. Public hearings, see § 116C.58.

### 116C.58 Public hearings; notice

The council shall hold an annual public hearing at a time and place prescribed by regulation in order to afford interested persons an opportunity to be heard regarding its inventory of potential sites and corridors and any other aspects of the council's activities and duties or the policies set forth in sections 1160.51 to 1160.69. The council shall hold at least one public hearing

in each county where a site or route is being considered for designation pursuant to section 116C.57 as suitable for construction of a large electric power generating plant or a high voltage transmission line. Notice of public hearings shall be given by the council at least ten days in advance but no earlier than 45 days prior to such hearings. Notice shall be by publication in a legal newspaper of general circulation in the county in which the public hearing-is

# ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY COUNCIL § 116C.61

to be held and by mailed notice to chief executives of the regional councils, county and the incorporated municipalities therein, Laws 1973, c. 591, § 8.

For effective date see note under § 116C.51.

Review
 Environmental quality council's decision not to require an environmental impact statement for construction of

exploratory copper-nickel mine was subject to judicial review under the Environmental Policy Act. Minnesota Public Interest Research Group v. Minnesota Environmental Quality Council, 1975, 237 N.W.2d 375.

# 116C.59 Public participation

Subdivision 1. Advisory committee. The council shall appoint one or more advisory committees to assist it in carrying out its duties. Committees appointed to evaluate plant sites or transmission line corridors considered for designation shall be comprised of as many persons as may be designated by the council, but shall include a majority of public representatives; at least one representative from each of the following: A public or municipally owned utility, a private investor owned utility and a cooperatively owned utility; one representative from the regional council and one from each county and municipal corporation in which a large electric power generating plant site and high voltage transmission line corridor are proposed to be located. Reimbursement for expenses incurred shall be made pursuant to the rules governing state employees.

Subd. 2. Other public participation. The council shall adopt broad spectrum citizen participation as a principle of operation. The form of public participation shall not be limited to public hearings and advisory committees and shall be consistent with the council's rules, regulations and guidelines as provided for in section 116C.66.

Laws 1973, c. 591, § 9.

For effective date see note under § 116C.51.

### 116C.60 Public meetings; transcript of proceedings; written records

Meetings of the council, including hearings, shall be open to the public. Minutes shall be kept of council meetings and a complete record of public hearings shall be kept. All books, records, files, and correspondence of the council shall be available for public inspection at any reasonable time. The council shall also be subject to section 471.705.

Laws 1973, c. 591, § 10.

For effective date see note under §

# 116C.61 Local regulations; state permits; state agency participation

Subdivision 1. Regional, county and local ordinances, rules, regulations; primary responsibility and regulation of site designation, improvement and use. To assure the paramount and controlling effect of the provisions herein over other state agencies, regional, county and local governments, and special purpose government districts, the issuance of a certificate of site compatibility or transmission line construction permit and subsequent purchase and use of such site or route locations for large electric power generating plant and high voltage transmission line purposes shall be the sole site approval required to be obtained by the utility. Such certificate or permit shall supersede and preempt all zoning, building, or land use rules, regulations, or ordinances promulgated by regional, county, local and special purpose government.

Subd. 2. Facility licensing. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, utilities shall obtain state permits that may be required to construct and operate large electric power generating plants and high voltage transmission lines. A state agency in processing a utility's facility permit application shall be bound to the decisions of the council, with respect to the site designation for the large electric power generating plant or the corridor or route

designation for the high voltage transmission line, and with respect to other matters for which authority has been granted to the council by sections 116C.51 to 116C.69.

### § 116C.61 ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY COUNCIL

Subd. 3. State agency participation. State agencies authorized to issue permits required for construction or operation of large electric power generating plants or high voltage transmission lines shall participate in and present the position of the agency at public liearings and all other activities of the council on specific site, corridor or route designations of the council, which position shall clearly state whether the site, corridor, or route being considered for designation or permit approval for a certain size and type of facility will be in compliance with state agency standards, regulations or policies. No site or route shall be designated which violates state agency regulations. Laws 1973, c. 591, § 11.

For effective date see note under § 116C.51.

### 116C.62 Improvement of acquired large electric power generating plant sites and high voltage transmission line route locations

Utilities which have acquired a power plant site or transmission line route in accordance with sections 116C.51 to 116C.69 may proceed to construct or improve such site or route for the intended purposes at any time, subject to section 116C.61, subdivision 2, provided that if such construction and improvement commences more than four years after a certificate or permit for the site or route has been issued then the utility must certify to the council that such site or route continues to meet the conditions upon which the certificate of site compatibility or transmission line construction permit was issued. Laws 1973, c. 591, § 12.

For effective date see note under § 116C.51.

### 116C.63 Eminent domain powers; right of condemnation

Nothing herein shall abrogate or invalidate the right of eminent domain vested in utilities by statute or common law existing as of May 24, 1973. Such right of eminent domain shall continue to exist for utilities and may be used according to law to accomplish any of the purposes and objectives of sections 116C.51 to 116C.69.

Laws 1973, c. 591, § 13.

For effective date see note under \$ 116C.51.

### 116C.64 Failure to act

In the event the council fails to designate in a timely manner large electric power generating plant sites and high voltage transmission line corridors or routes as provided for herein, any affected utility may seek an order of the district court requiring the council to designate a site, corridor, or route. Laws 1973, c. 591, § 14.

For effective date see note under § 116C.51.

## 116C.65 Judicial review

Any utility, party or person aggrieved by the issuance of a certificate or emergency certificate of site compatibility or transmission line construction permit from the council or a certification of continuing suitability filed by a utility with the council or by a final order in accordance with any rules and regulations promulgated by the council, may appeal therefrom to any district court where such large electric power generating plant or high voltage transmission line is to be located. Such appeal shall be made and perfected within 60 days after the issuance of the certificate or permit by the council or certification filed with the council or the filing of any final order by the council. The notice of appeal to the district court shall be filed with the clerk of the . district court and a copy thereof mailed to the council and affected utility. Any utility, party or person aggrieved by a final order or judgment rendered on appeal to the district court may appeal therefrom to the supreme court in the manner provided in civil actions. Laws 1973, c. 591, § 15.

For effective date see note under \$

### § 116C.69 ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY COUNCIL

### 116C.66 Rules and regulations

The council, in order to give effect to the purposes of sections 116C.51 to 116C.69, shall adopt rules and regulations consistent with sections 116C.51 to 116C.69, including promulgation of plant siting and transmission line routing criteria, the description of the information to be furnished by the utilities, establishment of minimum guidelines for public participation in the development, revision, and enforcement of any regulation, plan or program established by the council. Chapter 15, shall apply to the appeal of rules and regulations adopted by the council to the same extent as it applies to review of rules and regulations adopted by any other agency of state government.

Laws 1973, c. 591, § 16.

For effective date see note under \$ 116C.51.

### 116C.67 Savings clause

The provisions of sections 116C.51 to 116C.69 shall not apply to the site for the large electric power generating plant evaluated and recommended by the governor's environmental quality council prior to the date of enactment, and also to high voltage transmission lines, the construction of which will commence prior to July 1, 1974; provided, however, that within 90 days following the date of enactment, the affected utility shall file with the council a written statement identifying such transmission lines, their planned location, and the estimated date for commencement of construction. Lawo 1073, c. 501, § 17.

For effective date see note under § 116C.51.

### 116C.68 Enforcement, penalties

Subdivision 1. Any person who violates sections 116C.51 to 116C.69 or any rule or regulation promulgated hereunder, or knowingly submits false information in any report required by sections 116C.51 to 116C.69 shall be guilty of a misdemeanor for the first offense and a gross misdemeanor for the second and each subsequent offense. Each day of violation shall constitute a separate offense.

Subd. 2. The provisions of sections 116C.51 to 116C.69 or any rules or regulations promulgated hereunder may be enforced by injunction, action to compel performance or other appropriate action in the district court of the county wherein the violation takes place. The attorney general shall bring any action under this subdivision upon the request of the council.

Subd. 3. When the court finds that any person has violated sections 116C. 51 to 116C.69, any rule or regulation hereunder, knowingly submitted false information in any report required by sections 116C.51 to 116C.69 or has violated any court order issued under this chapter, the court may impose a civil penalty of not more than \$10,000 for each violation. These penalties shall be paid to the general fund in the state treasury.

Laws 1973, c. 591, § 18.

For effective date see note under § 116C.51.

## 116C.69 Blennial report; budget; appropriation; funding

Subdivision 1. The council shall prepare and submit to the legislature bignnially a report of its power plant and transmission siting operations, activities, findings, recommendations, and undertakings. The report shall also contain information on the council's biennial expenditures, its proposed budget for the following bleunium, and the amounts paid in certificate and permit application fees pursuant to subdivision 2 and in assessments pursuant to subdivision 3. The proposed budget for the following biennium shall be subject to legislative review.

Subd. 2. Every applicant for a site certificate or transmission line construction permit shall pay to the council a fee in an amount equal to \$500 for each \$1,000,000 of production or transmission line plant investment in the

9 Minn.S.A.—14 1976 P.P.

# § 116C.69 ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY COUNCIL

proposed installation as defined in the Federal Power Commission Uniform System of Accounts. The council shall specify the time and manner of payment of the fee. If any single payment requested by the council is in excess of 25 percent of the total estimated fee, the council shall show that such excess is reasonably necessary. The applicant shall pay within 30 days of notification such additional fees as are reasonably necessary for completion of the plant site, transmission line corridor or route evaluation and selection process by the council. In no event shall the total fees required of the applicant under this subdivision exceed an amount equal to 0.001 of said production or transmission line plant investment (\$1,000 for each \$1,000,000) except that the minimum application fee shall not be less than \$5,000. All money received pursuant to this subdivision shall be deposited in the general fund. So much money as is necessary is annually appropriated from the general fund to pay expenses incurred in processing applications for certificates or permits in accordance with the provisions of sections 116C.51 to 116C.69 and in the event such expenses are less than the fee paid, to refund the excess to the applicant. This annual appropriation shall not exceed the fees to be paid during such period.

Subd. 3. The council shall finance its base line studies, general environmental studies, development of criteria, inventory preparation and all other work, other than specific site, corridor, and route selection, from an assessment made annually by the council against all utilities. Each share shall be determined as follows: (1) the ratio that the annual retail kilowatt-hour sales in the state of each utility bears to the annual total retail kilowatt-hour sales in the state of all such utilities, multiplied by 0.667, plus (2) the ratio that the annual gross revenue from retail kilowatt-hour sales in the state of each utility bears to the annual total gross revenues from retail kilowatt-hour sales in the state of all such utilities, multiplied by 0.333, as determined by the council. Such assessment shall be credited to the general fund and shall be paid to the state treasury within 30 days after receipt of the bill, which shall constitute notice of said assessment and demand of payment thereof. The total amount which may be assessed to the several utilities under authority of this subdivision shall not exceed the annual budget of the council for carrying out the purposes of this subdivision. Laws 1973, c. 591, § 19.

For effective date see note under § 116C.51.

# THIS PAGE WAS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

ORNL/TM-5928 Dist. Category UC-80

# Internal Distribution

1.	T. D. Anderson	38.	W. Fulkerson
2.	S. I. Auerbach	39.	M. J. Goglia
3.	J. A. Auxier	40.	J. F. Harvey
4.	Seymour Baron	41.	R. F. Hibbs
5-9.	H. F. Bauman	42.	O. H. Klepper
10.	S. E. Beall	43.	Milton Levenson
11.	H. I. Bowers	44.	M. L. Myers
12.	C. C. Burwell	45.	H. Postma
13.	R. S. Carlsmith	46.	M. W. Rosenthal
14.	C. V. Chester	47.	T. H. Row
15-19.	T. E. Cole	48.	Dunlap Scott
20.	W. E. Cooper	49—73.	I. Spiewak
21-30.	D. F. Cope (Consultant)	74.	R. E. Thoma
31.	W. B. Cottrell	75.	D. B. Trauger
32.	F. L. Culler	76.	W. J. Wilcox
33.	R. M. Davis	77-80.	Central Research Library
34.	J. G. Delene	81.	Document Reference Section
35.	D. M. Eissenberg	82-84.	Laboratory Records
36.	G. G. Fee	85.	Laboratory Records, ORNL R.C.
37.	A. J. Frankel	86.	ORNL Patent Office

# External Distribution

- 87. D. C. Bauer, Division of Nuclear Research and Applications, ERDA, Washington, DC 20545
- 88-90. E. S. Beckjord, Director, Division of Reactor Development and Demonstration, ERDA, Washington, DC 20545
  - 91. A. P. D'Zmura, Division of Nuclear Research and Applications, ERDA, Washington, DC 20545
- 92-94. R. W. A. LeGassie, Office of the Assistant Administrator for Planning, Analysis and Evaluation, 7th Floor, Room 7127, ERDA, Washington, DC 20545
- 95-104. W. F. Savage, Division of Nuclear Research and Applications, ERDA, Washington, DC 20545
  - 105. S. Strauch, Assistant Director for Energy Systems Analysis,
    Division of Nuclear Research and Applications, ERDA, Washington,
    DC 20545
  - 106. K. A. Trickett, Division of Nuclear Research and Applications, ERDA, Washington, DC 20545
  - 107. R. L. Egli, Director, Reactor Division, ERDA, Oak Ridge
  - 108. J. A. Lenhard, Director, Research & Technical Support Division, ERDA, Oak Ridge
  - 109. Don G. Allen, President, Yankee Atomic Electric Company, 20 Turnpike Road, Route 9, Westborough, MA 01581

- 110. Wells P. Allen, Senior Vice President, New York State Electric and Gas Corp., 4500 Vestel Parkway, E., Binghamton, NY 13902
- 111. J. S. Anderson, Senior Vice President of Engineering and Operations, Utah Power and Light Company, 1407 W. North Temple Street, P.O. Box 899, Salt Lake City, UT 84110
- 112. W. D. Arms, Vice President, Idaho Power Company, 1220 Idaho Street, Boise, ID 83707
- 113. Dan M. Axelrod, United Engineers and Constructors, 30 South 17th Street, Philadelphia, PA 19101
- 114. R. E. Balhiser, Director, Fossil Fuel and Advanced Systems Division, Electric Power Research Institute, P.O. Box 10412, Palo Alto, CA 94304
- 115. Robert H. Ballard, Division Manager, System Planning Division Omaha Public Power District, 1623 Harney, Omaha, NE 68102
- 116. James H. Baroff, The Energy Center, 1218 16th Street, NW, Washington, DC 20036
- 117. Alexander Bastos, Office of Siting, Room 6150, Federal Energy Administration, 12th and Pennsylvania Ave., NW, Washington, DC 20461
- 118. Ralph Bean, Chairman, New England Planning Commission, Central Maine Power Company, Edison Drive, Augusta, ME 04330
- 119. Robert O. Bigelow, Planning Engineer, New England Electric System, 20 Turnpike Road, West Burrow, MA 01581
- 120. R. T. Bowles, Director, System Planning Department, Florida Power Corporation, 3201 Thirty-fourth Street, S., P.O. Box 14042, St. Petersburg, FL 33733
- 121. Robert Brenner, 224-B Halsey Street, Princeton, NJ 08540
- 122. John K. Brian, Vice President of Engineering and Construction, Union Electric Company, One Memorial Drive, St. Louis, MO 63166
- 123. Perry G. Brittain, President, Texas Utilities Services, Inc., 2001 Bryan Tower, Dallas, TX 75201
- 124. Walter Brown, Administrator-Manager, National Electric Reliability Council, Research Park, Terhune Road, Princeton, NJ 08540
- 125. Kenneth D. Buck, Senior Planning Engineer, Bulk Power Planning Section, Cleveland Electric Illuminating Company, Illuminating Building, Public Square, Cleveland, OH 44101
- 126. Saul Burstein, Senior Vice President, Wisconsin Electric Power Company, 231 West Michigan Street, Milwaukee, WI 53201
- 127. K. A. Carlson, Vice President, Engineering & Environmental, Minnesota Power and Light Company, 30 West Superior Street, Duluth, MN 55802
- 128. William Cavanaugh, III, Assistant Director, Power Production, Arkansas Power & Light Company, 9th & Louisiana Streets, Little Rock, AR 72203
- 129. Fred Clagget, Office of Community Development, Office of the Governor, Olympia, WA 98504
- 130. Dan Colmer, Vice President, Mississippi Power and Light Company, Box 1640, Jackson, MS 39205
- 131. Bill Colston, San Diego Gas & Electric Company, P.O. Box 1831, San Diego, CA 92112

- 132. John T. Conway, Executive Assistant to the Chairman, Consolidated Edison Company, New York City, NY
- 133. E. N. Cramer, Engineer for Advanced Engineering Systems, Southern California Edison Company, P.O. Box 800, Rosemead, CA 91770
- 134. Ed H. Crews, Jr., Vice President, Construction and Engineering, South Carolina Electric and Gas Company, 328 Main Street, Columbia, SC 29218
- 135. L. C. Dale, Chief Engineer, Duke Power Company, 422 South Church Street, Charlotte, NC
- 136. Alan R. Davis, Director of Public Information, Boston Edison Company, 800 Boylston Street, Boston, MA 02199
- 137. A. V. Dienhart, Vice President of Engineering, Northern States Power Company, 414 Nicolett Mall, Minneapolis, MN 55401
- 138. Richard M. Eckert, General Manager, Engineering and Construction, Public Service Electric and Gas, 80 Park Place, Newark, NJ 07101
- 139. Charles Erickson, Assistant Chief Electrical Engineer, Los Angeles Department of Water and Power, 111 North Hope Street, P.O. Box 111, Los Angeles, CA 90012
- 140. Malcolm Ernst, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Mail Stop 209, Lugen Bell Building, Washington, DC 20555
- 141. Mike Evans, Nuclear Engineer, Kansas City Power and Light Company, 1330 Baltimore Avenue, Kansas City, MO 64141
- 142. Robert A. Evans, Assistant Vice President, Northeast Utilities, P.O. Box 270, Hartford, CT 06101
- 143. M. E. Fate, Jr., Executive Vice President, Public Service Company, Public Service Company of Oklahoma, P.O. Box 201, Tulsa, OK 74102
- 144. Roger D. Feldman, Deputy Assistant Administrator, Finance & Environment, Federal Energy Administration, Washington, DC 20461
- 145. W. J. Ferguson, Vice President, Engineering & Construction, Puget Sound Power & Light Company, Puget Power Building, Bellevue, WA 98009
- 146. Terry A. Ferrar, 312 Ridge Avenue, State College, PA 16801
- 147. Harold B. Finger, Manager, Center for Energy Systems, General Electric Company, Suite 800, 777 14th Street, NW, Washington, DC 20005
- 148. Lynn Firestone, Vice President, Ohio Edison Company, 47 North Main Street, Akron, OH 44308
- 149. S. D. Freeman, 7211 Pyle Road, Bethesda, MD 20034
- 150. H. T. Fullam, Battelle Pacific Northwest Laboratories, Battelle Boulevard, Richland, WA 99352
- 151. Gerald Garvey, 81 Alexander Road, Princeton, NJ 08540
- 152. Jack Gilleland, Tennessee Valley Authority, Power Building, 540 Market Street, Chattanooga, TN 37401
- 153. John W. Gore, Vice President, Engineering and Construction, Baltimore Gas and Electric Company, Gas and Electric Building, Baltimore, MD 21203
- 154. Frank W. Graham, Atomic Industrial Forum, Inc., 7101 Wisconsin Ave., 12th Floor, Washington, DC 20014

- 155. R. G. Craham, Manager, Public Relations, Cincinnati Gas and Electric Company, 139 E. Fourth Street, Cincinnati, OH 45202
- 156. R. O. M. Grutle, Vice President, Production, Otter Tail Power Company, 215 South Cascade Street, Fergus Falls, MN 56537
- 157. Orval Hansen, 1819 H Street, NW, Washington, DC 20006
- 158. William B. Harral, Executive Director, Governor's Energy Council, P.O. Box 1323, Harrisburg, PA 17120
- 159. Harold Harty, Battelle Pacific Northwest Laboratories, Battelle Boulevard, Richland, WA 99352
- 160. R. M. Heatherington, Vice President of Operations, Iowa-Illinois Gas and Electric Company, 206 East Second Street, Davenport, IA 52808
- 161. Pat Howe, Director, Environmental Services, Carolina Power and Light Company, Raleigh, NC
- 162. Herbert Jacobs, Energy Parks Coordinator, Governor's Energy Council, State Capital, Harrisburg, PA 17120
- 163. R. T. Jaske, Office of Nuclear Materials Safety and Safeguards, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington, DC 20555
- 164. Steven Jellinek, Staff Director, Council on Environmental Quality, 722 Jackson Place, N.W., Washington, DC 20006
- 165. Erasmus H. Kloman, Secretary, National Academy of Public Administration, 1225 Connecticut Avenue, NW, Washington, DC 20036
- 166. Lynn Koch, Manager of the Nuclear Program, Illinois Power Company, 500 South 27th Street, Decatur, IL 62525
- 167. Glen J. Koester, Executive Vice President, Kansas Gas and Electric Company, 201 North Market Street, Wichita, KS
- 168. James P. Lagowski, Site Planning, Detroit Edison Company, 2000 Second Avenue, Detroit, MI 48226
- 169. H. Landsberg, Director, Division of Energy and Resource Commodities, Resources for the Future, 1755 Massachusetts Ave., N.W., Washington, DC 20036
- 170. Owen A. Lentz, Executive Manager, East Central Area Reliability Coordination Agreement, P.O. Box 102, Canton, OH 44701
- 171. Joseph Lieberman, Nuclear Safety Associates, 5101 River Road, Bethesda, MD 20016
- 172. L. F. Lischer, Vice President, Commonwealth Edison Company, One First National Plaza, P.O. Box 767, Chicago, IL 60690
- 173. Glenn H. Lovin, Edison Electric Institute, 1015 18th Street, N.W., Washington, DC 20036
- 174. J. E. Luhring, Vice President for Nuclear, Towa Power and Light Company, 666 Grand Avenue, Des Moines, 1A 50309
- 175. J. P. Madgett, General Manager, Dairyland Power Cooperative, 2615 East Avenue, La Crosse, WI 54601
- 176. Chuck Mangan, Manger of Production and Plant Engineering,
  Niagara Mohawk Power Company, 300 Erie Boulevard, West Syracuse,
  NY 13202
- 177. R. J. Marchetti, Vice President for Power, Minnesota Power and Light Company, 30 West Superior Street, Duluth, MN 55802
- 178. Austin J. Mary, Assistant to Senior Vice President, Gulf States Utilities Company, P.O. Box 2951, Beaumont, TX 77704

- 179. J. J. Mattimoe, Assistant General Manager and Chief Engineer, Sacramento Municipal Utility District, 6201 S. Street, Box 15830, Sacramento, CA 95813
- 180. William M. McNamara, Madison Gas and Electric Company, 100 North Fairchild Street, Madison, WI 53701
- 181. J. M. McReynolds, Vice President of Engineering, Houston Lighting and Power Company, P.O. Box 1700, Houston, TX 77001
- 182. Marc Messing, Facility Siting Analyst, Environmental Policy Center, 317 Pennsylvania Avenue, SE, Washington, DC 20003
- 183. J. M. Mooney, Vice President, Louisiana Power & Light Company, 142 Delaronde Street, New Orleans, LA 70174
- 184. Richard A. Mulford, Project Manager, Mechanical Engineering Division, Philadelphia Electric Company, 2301 Market Street, Philadelphia, PA 19101
- 185. L. Manning Muntzing, LeBoeuf, Lamb, Leiby and McRae, 1757 N Street, N.W., Washington, DC 20036
- 186-195. K. J. Nemeth, Executive Director, Southern Interstate Nuclear Board, One Exchange Place, Suite 1230, Atlanta, GA 30341
  - 196. C. M. Newstead, Technical Support Organization, Bldg. 197, Brookhaven National Laboratory, Upton, L.I., NY 11973
  - 197. John A. Nutant, Offshore Power Systems, 8000 Arlington Expressway, Jacksonville, FL 32211
  - 198. William Oakley, Assistant to Senator Bellman of Oklahoma, Washington, DC
  - 199. William S. O'Brien, Director, Environment & Licensing, Florida Power Corporation, 3201 Thirty-fourth Street, S., P.O. Box 14042, St. Petersburg, FL 33733
  - 200. James I. Owens, Project Manager, Summit Nuclear Power Plant, Delmarva Power and Light Company, 800 King Street, Wilmington, DE 19899
  - 201. P. F. Palmedo, Brookhaven National Laboratory, Upton, L.I., NY 11973
  - 202. J. F. Purcell, Vice President, Public Relations, Northern Indiana Public Service Company, 5265 Hohman Avenue, Hammond, IN 46325
  - 203. Edmund J. Purdy, Philadelphia Electric Company, 2301 Market Street, Philadelphia, PA 19101
  - 204. Stanley Ragone, Senior Vice President for Power, Virginia Electric and Power Company, 700 East Franklin Street, Richmond, VA 23261
  - 205. John Randazza, Assistant Vice President, Central Maine Power Company, Edison Drive, Augusta, ME 04330
  - 206. Jene Robinson, Illinois Power Company, 500 South 27th Street, Decatur, IL 62525
- 207-216. W. M. Rogers, Jr., Executive Director, Western Interstate Nuclear Board, P.O. Box 15038, Lakewood, CO 80215
  - 217. R. G. Ryan, Office of Nuclear Materials Safety and Safeguards, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington, DC 20555
  - 218. John Saeger, Project Manager, Energy Park Development, Pennsylvania Power and Light Company, 2 North 9th Street, Allentown, PA 18101

- 219. Burkhard Schneider, Site Planning, Detroit Edison Company, 2000 Second Avenue, Detroit, MI 48226
- 220. B. W. Shackelford, Vice President for Planning and Research, Pacific Gas and Electric Company, 77 Beale Street, San Francisco, CA 94106
- 221. Barry S. Shanoff, Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC
- 222. Don Sinville, Vice President, Public Service Company of New Hampshire, 1000 Helm Street, Manchester, NH 03105
- 223. Harry Ken Sloth, Director of Environmental Affairs, Nebraska Public Power District, 2504 Fourteenth Street, Columbus, NE 68601
- 224. S. H. Smiley, Director of Special Studies, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington, DC 20555
- 225. Robert J. Stegon, Offshore Power Systems, 8000 Arlington Expressway, Jacksonville, FL 32211
- 226. Jack Stiles, Vice President for Power Planning, Pacific Power and Light Company, Public Service Building, Sixth Avenue, Portland, OR 97204
- 227. Gerald I. Stillman, Principal Research Development Engineer,
  Power Authority of the State of New York, 10 Columbus Circle,
  New York, NY 10019
- 228. James L. Sundquist, Senior Fellow, The Brookings Institution, 1775 Massachusetts Avenue, NW, Washington, DC 20036
- 229. Joseph Swidler, Leva, Hawes, Symington, Martin and Oppenheimer, 815 Connecticut Avenue, NW, Washington, DC 20006
- 230. L. D. Taylor, Professor of Economics, University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ 85721
- 231. Jack R. Templeton, Manager of Systems Planning, Potomac Electric Power Company, Thomas Edison Building, 1900 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W., Washington, DC 20006

K,

- 232. Ruble A. Thomas, Vice President, Southern Services, Inc., P.O. Box 2625, Birmingham, AL 35202
- 233. Jack Thorpe, Chief Engineer, General Public Utilities Company, 80 Pine Street, New York, NY 10005
- 234. David Tillson, Site Study Specialist, Washington Public Power System, 301 Fifth Avenue, P.O. Box 968, Richland, WA 99352
- 235. Wilfred O. Uhl, Senior Vice President, Long Island Lighting Company, 250 Old Country Road, Mineola, NY 11501
- 236. Robert E. Uhrig, Florida Power & Light Company, P.O. Box 013100 Miami, FL 33101
- 237. Arvin E. Upton, LeBoeuf, Lamb, Leiby & MacRae, 1757 N. Street. NW, WAshington, DC 20036
- 238. E. E. Van Brunt, Jr., APS Vice President, Nuclear Services, ANPP Project Director, Arizona Nuclear Power Project, P.O. Box 21666, Phoenix, AZ 85036
- 239. D. E. Vandenburgh, Vice President, Yankee Atomic Electric Company, 20 Turnpike Road, Route 9, Westborough, MA 01581
- 240. Gregory S. Vassell, Vice President, Systems Planning, American Electric Power Company, Inc., Room 1332, 2 Broadway, New York, NY 10004

- 241. Don Voyles, Vice President, Duke Power Company, 422 South Church Street, Charlotte, NC
- 242. R. F. Walker, President, Public Service Company of Colorado, P.O. Box 849, Denver CO 80201
- 243. William E. Warne, Chairman, Consultant, 2090 Eighth Avenue, Sacramento, CA 95818
- 244. P. J. West, Chief of Development and Environmental Controls, Southern California Edison Company, P.O. Box 800, Rosemead, CA 91770
- 245. Merrill Whitman, Americans for Energy Independence, 1250 Connecticut Avenue, N.W., Suite 502, Washington, DC 20036
- 246. Jack Wilkins, Associate General Manager, Omaha Public Power District, 1623 Harney, Omaha, NE 68102
- 247. Bill Williams, Technical Assistant to General Manager, South Carolina Public Service Authority, Monks Corner, SC
- 248. Neil H. Woodley, Chairman, Generation Resources Investigation Team, Portland General Electric Company, Electric Building, 621 S.W. Alder Street, Portland, OR 97205
- 249. P. D. Ziemer, President, Wisconsin Public Service Corporation, P.O. Box 700, Green Bay, WI 54305
- 250-389. For distribution as shown in TID-4500 under UC-80, General Reactor Technology